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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B B @B E
(In HK$'000) (UFETHBEN) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
B oo T ZTTF —T-NF
OPERATING RESULTS EEMR
Revenue Wz 114,961 127,011 119,221 174,831 191,589
Profit for the year attributable to RRARGEB AE
owners of the Company F R 100,310 87,036 46,227 47,738 254,624
Earnings per share - Basic FROEN - &R
HK cents peqlil 3.7 3.2 1.7 1.8 9.5
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
Total assets EERE 3,047,106 3,292,975 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628
Net assets EEFE 2,761,140 2,718,501 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866
Total liabilities BEBE 285,966 574,474 812,488 605,148 260,762
SEGMENT INFORMATION DEER
- SEGMENT REVENUE - pEKE
Broking ) 5,888 8,340 11,379 9,564 8,136
Financing 815 75,875 84,575 77,772 94,614 73,146
Corporate finance TERE 152 3,176 1,076 3,714 1,276
Assets management BEEE 1,584 1,735 1,621 2,075 2,242
Properties investment FERE 30,969 28,757 27,075 64,569 106,496
Precious metal trading E¢BEE 493 428 298 295 293
- SEGMENT RESULTS - PHWEE
Broking e (4,591) (2,809) 243 76 (1,609)
Financing B 7 11,420 54,598 48,772 44,561 13,490
Corporate finance rERE 132 3,120 1,043 3,669 1,224
Assets management BEER 505 659 83 383 634
Properties investment BHERE 27,473 24,967 23,847 58,656 100,347
Precious metal trading E¢EBEE (147) (343) (611) (640) (686)
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Financial and Business Review

During the financial year 2023, the Group recorded a profit of
approximately HK$100.2 million, 15.2% increase when compared
with approximately HK$87.0 million in the preceding year. Revenue
decreased by approximately HK$12.1 million, around 9.5% decrease
when compared with last year of approximately HK$127.0 million.

The financing segment of our Group has recorded a revenue and
operating results during the year, amounted to approximately HK$75.9
million and HK$11.4 million respectively. In view of the downturn of the
economy in Hong Kong, the Group has implemented a more prudent
treasury control approach in terms of evaluating and controlling our
clients’ loan recoverability.

Market Review

COVID-19 has been with us since 2019, however, the World Health
Organisation (WHO) has declared in early May 2023 that COVID-19 no
longer represents a “global health emergency”. Countries, including
China, have eliminated all restrictions on international travel and
reopened their borders. In reaction to the mainland reopening its
borders, Hong Kong needs a new approach in order to quickly reclaim
its standing as an international financial center which may be a good
sign for recovery.

The war between Russia and Ukraine has triggered the rise in price
and supply chain disruptions of fuel, food and raw materials. With no
peaceful solution in sight, this will create difficulty for market recovery.
The resulting high inflation has led the Central bank especially the U.S.
Federal Reserve to hike interest rates many times to bring down inflation
to a manageable level. With the recent failures of U.S. regional banks
this will create more uncertainty in world financial markets.
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According to the IMF, growth forecast is expected to drop from 3.4%
in 2022 to 2.8% in 2023 before stabilising at 3.0% in 2024. Growth in
advanced economies is expected to drop significantly, falling from
2.7% in 2022 to 1.3% in 2023. But in another, possibly worse case, with
increasing pressure on the financial sector, global growth would decline
to roughly 2.5% in 2023, with advanced economies sliding below 1%.
Global headline inflation will remain high in 2022 and 2023 due to
commodity price volatility, while underlying core inflation will remain
elevated. In most cases, inflation will not return to target until after 2025.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in the third
and fourth quarters of 2022 and the first quarter of 2023, China's GDP
growth was 3.9%, 2.9% and 4.5% year-on-year respectively. Given
the aftermath of the COVID-19 outbreak on economic activity in China,
despite a pick-up in economic growth in the third quarter, the overall
economic condition has deteriorated since the fourth quarter of 2022.
Industrial production and consumer markets have continued to decline.
In addition, under the turbulent business environment, the tense political
situation with U.S., and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine will add
uncertainty to the weak economy and cause profit margin to reduce.

Hong Kong’s economy is expected to rebound significantly in 2023, but
significant uncertainties remain. Real GDP is expected to grow by 3.5%
to 5.5% in the latter half of 2023, following a 3.5% decline in 2022. This
estimate is based that economic activities and economic exchanges
between Hong Kong and the mainland will restart. U.S. interest rates
will gradually normalize from the current situation until around mid-2023,
and the Ukraine crisis will not deepen. By comparison, the latest private
sector forecast for Hong Kong's economic growth in 2023 ranging from
1.4 percent to 6.5 percent, with an average of 3.2 percent. In May 2023,
the IMF forecast growth is 3.5%.

The Fed's interest rate hike affected Hong Kong market liquidity. In the
second half of 2022, the Hong Kong interbank offered rate continued to
rise. The one-month offered rate at the end of December 2022 reached
4.35%, about five times higher than the level at the end of June 2022.
In September 2022, the bank raised its prime rate by 12.5 basis points,
the first increase since September 2018. The cumulative rise at the end
of December 2022 was 62.5 basis points. Hong Kong's gross domestic
product (“GDP”) has been impacted by the city's persistent weakness in
external trade. According to the Census and Statistics Department, GDP
declined 4.2% in real terms in the fourth quarter of 2022, compared to
a 4.6% decline in the third quarter of 2022. Rising interest rates, Hong
Kong’s economic recession, post-pandemic consequences, and the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, all contributed to the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”)
falling to 14,687 on 31 October 2022, the lowest close since 2009.
The HSI surged after mainland China eased some of its COVID-19
restrictions in November 2022.
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Brokerage

Revenue of brokerage segment was approximately HK$5.9 million,
a decrease by approximately HK$2.5 million (approximately HK$8.3
million in prior year), representing a contraction of approximately 29.4%
which led to a nominal manageable operating loss of approximately
HK$4.6 million during the year.

Financing

Revenue of the financing segment was approximately HK$75.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$8.7 million or 10.3%
compared with the preceding year. The segment recorded a segment
results of approximately HK$11.4 million (net of impairment loss).

Implementing stricter treasury control approach in evaluating the loan
recoverability of our clients’ portfolio (including new clients) before
granting or extending loan to them, we maintained a cautious attitude in
structuring the terms of loans, without losing sight of offering attractive
money lending packages in a risk-bearable base so as to maintain our
competitiveness.

Corporate Finance and Asset Management
During the financial year 2023, the corporate finance segment
contributed revenue and segment results for approximately HK$152,000
and approximately HK$132,000 respectively.

For the asset management segment, the revenue and results in the
current year were approximately HK$1.6 million and HK$0.5 million
respectively, which were aligned with the market environment.

Precious Metal Trading
During the current financial year, the segment loss was approximately
HK$0.1 million which was half of the preceding financial year.

Properties Investment

Our shopping mall in Macau generated a stable income to our Group
despite economic downturn. During the period, our rental capacity rate
of shopping mall as well as car parks increased when compared with
the previous years. Our Directors are of the view that our shopping
mall provided a comprehensive range of dining, shopping, lifestyle and
leisure facilities for citizens living in Macau, which attracted a stable
income even during lockdown.

During the current financial year, the properties investment segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$31.0 million, increased
by approximately HK$2.2 million. The segment recorded a result of
approximately HK$27.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of our investment properties was
approximately HK$1,697.0 million, with the net fair value increase of
approximately HK$74.9 million recorded during the year.

Administration Performance

The administrative and other operating expenses for the current
financial year amounted to approximately HK$25.8 million, which
represented a decrease of approximately HK$0.6 million comparing with
last year. The administrative expenses to revenue ratio of approximately
22.5%. This demonstrates that the management has been mindful of
exercising proper cost control during period of business containment.

Prospects

Looking ahead to the second half of 2023, with the progressive
improvement of the epidemic situation and the implementation of a
number of consumption-related stimulus and subsidy programmes,
gradually recovery of China’s general economy, and a rebound of
consumer demand will help. The rate of growth is increasing, and
numerous industries will exhibit a bottom-up growth pattern.

The possibility of an U.S. recession, persistent geopolitical tensions
between the US and China, and high-interest rates that dramatically
raise overall interest expenses are projected to have a significant
influence on financial performance in the second half of 2023.

The market has reached yet another crossroads. Although the market
believes that the United States will complete the rate hike cycle this
year, there is no consensus on when this cycle will endure in the United
States. Hong Kong will have to follow suit due to the currency peg.
The Hong Kong stock market’'s bounce, which began in October 2022
through early 2023, but began to decline again in February 2023, and
the market is divided on whether the rebound can be completed. Other
good news emerging in other countries, including Hong Kong was the
abolishment of COVID-related prohibitions. The geopolitical tensions
between the United States and China remain high. The conflict between
Russia and Ukraine has gone on longer than expected and has no
end date. After removing various external constraints, the market will
continue to focus on cautious investing.
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The market is expected to fluctuate in the second half of 2023,
and major market indexes will shift according to the market
conditions. Given the current shortening of the bull/bear cycle, we
believe that global markets will continue to experience brief but
frequent volatility. The danger of recession-induced panic in the United
States cannot be underestimated, and interest rate increases show no
indications of abating. Naturally, this raises the question of whether the
landing will be soft or hard. We expect a period of consolidation in Hong
Kong and China market parallels, with market participants focused on
identifying undervalued industries and firms.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, on the other hand, launched Asia’s
first encrypted asset ETF at the end of 2022. Besides, as Hong Kong
is one of pilot cities for the People’s Bank of China’s digital currency
(CBDC). The digital money project is planned to advance further in
2023. Also, the Hong Kong government continues to optimise the
existing limited partnership fund system and will develop additional
fund development policies to promote the asset management industry
in response to global digital trends, increasing the number of resource
companies and other industry listings with Hong Kong as the investment
platform. In terms of green and sustainable finance, Hong Kong will
play a significant role in the Greater Bay Area by participating in carbon
financial product transactions as an international financial centre.

In light of this, the Group will continue to adopt and maintain a
prudent investment policy in order to seize attractive opportunities
in the market. The Group will continue to leverage its strong market
analysis capabilities, prudently grasp market opportunities, optimize
diversification and flexibility, and adopt prudent risk control strategies to
maximize returns for all shareholders.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T EE & W R 2 W

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$459.3 million (2022: approximately HK$568.4 million)
of which HK$10.0 million (2022: HK$10.0 million) were pledged to bank
for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given guarantees
to the extent of HK$452.0 million (2022: HK$452.0 million) to secure the
facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2023 the Group had
available aggregate banking facilities of approximately HK$468.0 million
(2022: HK$468.0 million) of which HK$329.3 million (2022: HK$233.4
million) was not utilised.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s borrowings decreased to
approximately HK$139.3 million from approximately HK$234.6 million as
at 31 March 2022.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2023, the amount of total borrowings was approximately
HK$139.3 million (2022: HK$234.6 million). The gearing being equal
to approximately 5.0% (2022: 8.6%) of the net assets of approximately
HK$2,761.1 million (2022: HK$2,718.5 million).

Capital Structure
There was no significant change in the Group’s capital structure for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 20283, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$2,762.5 million (2022:
HK$2,719.8 million). The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as
at the reporting date was HK$1.03 (2022: HK$1.01).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and the majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars (“US$”) and Macau Pataca. Foreign exchange risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency which is not the functional currency of
the Group and the Company.

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is
insignificant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with fair value of approximately HK$1,467.0 million (2022:
HK$1,386.1 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS MBEREN
2023 2022
—E=-= i
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTART FAT
Guarantees given by the Company and its RRBIREMNBRARIABLE=F
subsidiaries to financial institutions in respect MBEEMSL TUBEREER
of facilities to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to financial ARRAEMBRATRRGEE
institutions in respect of facilities granted to BT BB ER
subsidiaries 452,000 452,000
At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it RIHEHIR  EE LR AAEERIERT A L5
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the  #ZR(E -

guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31
March 2023 is HK$138.7 million (2022: HK$234.6 million).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$Nil (2022: HK$NIil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 38 staff including those staff of
Macau (2022: 40). For the year ended 31 March 2023, the staff costs of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$15.0 million (2022: HK$15.5
million), representing 13.1% and 12.2% of the Group’s revenue in
financial year 2023 and 2022 respectively.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T EE & W R 2 W

" The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry

practices, market remuneration and individual’s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual's performance.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the AGM,
the Board has recommended the payment of a proposed final dividend
of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share (2022: HK2.0 cents per ordinary
share) in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 to all shareholders
of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 8 September 2023. If approved, the payment of the
proposed final dividend will be made on or about Friday, 22 September
2023.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H 4 WA A)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM") will be
convened and held on Thursday, 24 August 2023. Notice of the AGM
will be published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and sent to the
shareholders of the Company together with the Company’s 2023 Annual
Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
18 August 2023 to Thursday, 24 August 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at 17" Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 17 August 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 6 September 2023 to Friday, 8 September 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no share transfers can be registered.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard
Limited, at 17" Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 5
September 2023.
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip"), aged 77, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’'s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip qualified
as a Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant trained
in 1IS020700:2017. He has more than 25 years of public administration
and more than 25 years of public company management experience
in Hong Kong and Britain. He is also an accredited mediator. He has
extensive consultancy experience across industry sectors. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Ip does not hold directorship in any other listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 65, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master's degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master’s degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. He has been commissioned by the
University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A )
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Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 44, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 50, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 22 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok”), aged 59, is an executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Company’s property investment segment. Mr. Mok
received his Bachelor’s Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (currently the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Architectural
Technologists. Prior to joining the Company, he had served with Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited as Deputy General Manager
(Commercial) involved in various projects in Hong Kong and Macau
and as associate director in Widnell Limited involved in building and
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships in other Hong Kong or
overseas listed public companies in the last three years. He also holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold (“Mr. Chan”), aged 63, is an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the
Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of
the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 36 years of experience in financial industry. From
1986 to 1990, Mr. Chan worked at The China State Bank, Ltd. Hong
Kong Branch with his last position being a deputy manager under the
investment department, and he was responsible for credit control and
investment activities. During 1993, Mr. Chan worked at Unicoopjapan
(H.K.) Ltd. with his last position being a senior manager and he was
responsible for controlling and overseeing the treasury and finance
operations, and advising investment opportunities in People’s Republic
of China for Japanese investors. From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Chan worked
at China Development Investment Management Limited with his
last position being the head of China business department and he
was responsible for investment opportunities identification, project
management and corporate finance. From 1998 to 2019, Mr. Chan
worked at Dragages Hong Kong Limited, a subsidiary of Bouygues
Construction, with his last position as special advisor to chairman.
He was the structured finance director and project finance director of
Dragages Hong Kong Limited from 2005 to 2019. He was responsible
for fund raising activities and financing for construction projects in
Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. Since May 2020, Mr. Chan has also been
serving as an independent non-executive director of JBB Builders
International Limited (a company the shares of which are listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1903). Since June
2020, Mr. Chan has been serving as an independent non-executive
director for Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (a company the shares
of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8377).
Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He obtained a postgraduate
diploma in Banking and Finance from the City Polytechnic of Hong
Kong (presently known as City University of Hong Kong) and a degree
of Master of Science in Finance from City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Chartered Management Institute in
the United Kingdom, CPA Australia, Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
He was also a member of The International Institute of Management.
Mr. Chan obtained the qualification of Chartered Financial Analyst from
CFA Institute in September 2007.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A )
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Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 70, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master's Degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Having more than 40 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well
respected across industries, ranging from advertising, marketing
to public relations. He previously served as Head of Corporate
Communications of the Hospital Authority, assistant director of
Corporate and Community Relations of the Housing Authority and
director of Government and Community Engagement of the Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823). Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in
Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not
hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 44, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui
holds Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in
Applied Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking &
Finance) from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of
CPA Australia. Mr. Hui has over 16 years of working experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Zhejiang
United Investment Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8366) since 21
October 2021 and Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 907). He was also an independent non-executive director
of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (Stock Code: 8379)
during the period from 18 January 2018 to 15 December 2021. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Hui does not hold directorship in any listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Company Secretary

Mr. AU-YONG Shong, Samuel is the company secretary and the
authorized representative of the Company. He has extensive experience
in the accounting, investment banking, private equity, equity capital
markets and advising on corporate finance in both Hong Kong and
China. Mr. Au-Yong obtained a bachelor's degree in science with first
class honours from University of Southampton, United Kingdom in 1988.
Mr. Au-Yong is also a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and properties
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 5 to 9 and pages 10 to 13 of this
annual report respectively. These discussion form part of this director’s
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note
29 and note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. Environmental
policies and performance are discussed in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 50 to 86 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and associate at 31 March
2023 are set out in note 35 and note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 95.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 8 September 2023.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )

EZEMARZERERBE_T_=F=A
ST -RALEEAKEZREREAPBEHRER -

ZNN TE’JIK%WE&QT B AEMBLREE
REFFLRL  PELL BHRARRE  EX
BE CEREER BEEE E2EBEER
FHERE -

E e
HARREBRAZNTEERARARERAK
FEAZRANRAEZERVBERRZBHE
AEAENFBEAMN DHIEAFHRESAES
IEEFREIREIVEEFIBE[EEEN R
Bt - AR AEFEREZEST &
7 HARREHNERER R THARRZMNHE
AENAFRZE - LERGAMBEHRRME29
K30 REMKRKRRERFHFL05 £586
BZIRE HERERME] AW -

5 BEH
REZERH R E 05 BANFERRS
&M B REN 6 -

MEBARIRBEE NS
ARRAIRZZE=Z=F=A=+—HZWBAH
ﬁ%ﬂ?Z?F”UﬁK?é%%ﬁ%Wﬁ%&
K18 o

AEEBE-_T-_=F=-A=1—RALEEZX
BENEBEZFRERER -

g\
BEeREAZE_ZFNANBEZEAR
BERELMOBRREREAFEERIARS HXEL
2. 08Il o



SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in

note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities

for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary does not

form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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During the year ended 31 March,
BEZA=1T-HLFE

(In HK$'000) (U FHETAEN) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=Hf —FT-— —F—— —E-EF —E-HF
Revenue & 114,961 127,011 119,221 174,831 191,589
Profit before taxation %5 5% A 107,106 97,450 57,349 62,273 290,588
Income tax expenses FrEHiHAx (6,870) (10,457) (11,161) (15,872) (28,039)
Profit for the year attributable /NGRS X DN X
to owners of the Company &R % A 100,310 87,036 46,227 47,738 254 624
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
As at 31 March,
R=ZB=+-—H
(In HK$'000) (U FHETHBEN) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-Z=8F —ZET-— —EF-— —E-FEF —ZE-AF
Total assets EESE 3,047,106 3,292,975 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628
Total liabilities BRGE (285,966) (574,474) (812,488)  (605,148)  (260,762)
Net assets BESE 2,761,140 2,718,501 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866
RESERVES EA]

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BRAFEAZAKRERARAREEDERLD
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share premium
of the Company is available for paying dividend to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends can be distributed out of the share premium, contributed
surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend of the Company which
in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$370.0 million as at 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$370.0 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2023,
resulting an increase in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$74.9 million (2022: net increase in fair value approximately HK$21.0
million) which has been recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 15
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
24 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 31.63% (2022: 38%) of the
Group’s revenue, of which one customer has contributed over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group (2022: one customer has contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group).

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal
activities of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-executive directors
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive directors
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold (appointed on 26 August 2022)
Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (retired on 26 August 2022)

Brief biographical details in respect of the directors are set out in the
“Biography of directors and senior management” from pages 14 to 17 of
this annual report.

Pursuant to Article 116 of the Articles of Association, Mr. IP Man Tin,
David, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan shall
retire by rotation at the AGM. Mr. IP Man Tin, David, Mr. CHENG Wai
Lun, Andrew and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan being eligible, offers themselves
for re-election at the AGM. Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, will not seek for
re-election at the AGM and will retire as an executive Director after the
conclusion of the AGM.

At the AGM, ordinary resolutions will be proposed to re-elect Mr. CHAN
Tsun Choi, Arnold who was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 26 August, 2022, shall hold office only until the AGM
in accordance with Article 99 of the Articles of Association. Being
eligible, Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold will offer himself for re-election as
independent non-executive Director.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2023 from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing Rules. Up to
and as at the date of this report, the Company still considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Properties
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no major customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship with them to create
value for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of
its employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:
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Number of shares
Bk {
Personal
interests Family
(held as interests Percentage
beneficial (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of Director owner) of spouse) interests interests Total  share capital
AR E] 4o BE{j}
3.2 (REREEA) (Ef#R) EEER bR & RAESM
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AR TEREE.01ET 2
in the Company EBR
CHENG Wi Ling, Annig (Note 1) BR%W21) - - 1,992,721,496 - 1992721496 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) Bfgfa (#11) - - 1992,721,496 - 1,092,721,496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Note 2) ERE L) 518,000 1,100,190 - - 1,618,190 0.06%
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Note 1: As at 31 March 2023, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31 March 2023, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director of the
Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in 1,618,190
shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associate a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or
executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition in
shares or debentures of the Company or its associate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of shareholder

Number of shares held
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Percentage of
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in the Company ZER
CCAA (Note) CCAA(fitat) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: Identical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee annually.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i)  were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA
Group”) dated 26 January 2022, various members of the Group entered
into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which would
constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT") on the part of
the Group for the years ending 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025.
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CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group has operated a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately in an independently managed
fund. The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income.
The contributions, amounting HK$431,000 (2022: HK$444,000), are
charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Tsun
Choi, Arnold, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. Two of them
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The
main duties of the Audit Committee include the review of the relationship
with external auditors of the Company, review of financial information of
the Group and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to
be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and their associates had
any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company'’s total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30 to 49 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2021 was audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
were audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited. Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their

reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31
March 2023, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code
The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code throughout year ended 31 March 2023, except for the following:

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the CG Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho, Ivan. Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan
have appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise.
All Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standard of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 14 to 17 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling,
Annie.
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinising the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. They conduct regular meetings with the
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries and associate,
at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meetings are held no less than four times a year. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings
with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) without the presence of executive Directors at least once
every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

If a substantial shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) or
a director has a material conflict of interest in respect of a matter
to be considered by the Board, the matter will be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting (and not by a written resolution). Independent
non-executive directors who, and whose associates, have no material
interest in the transaction will be present at such board meeting.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.

Efforts are made to ensure that all Directors’ questions or requests are
dealt with promptly. The non-executive Directors also have separate
and independent access to senior management to make further
enquiries or to obtain more information where necessary.

Board Diversity Policy

the Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company. The Company views the increasing board
diversity as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In determining
the composition of the Board, a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service are
taken into account in respect of the diversity of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
selected based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be made by the Board will
be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions to be made
to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee has responsibilities to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships and on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the skills mix,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Nomination Committee will also review the Board diversity policy,
as appropriate and review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board diversity policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board members

as of 31 March 2023:

REZBEREMVEARABEERTELES
WAL UHERZAEBALHEEZRHLR
ESeRHEANABRARRNEERER AR
FEMRE  FH - EBREZTES  HEE
FENZEESTARER  TRAHETH SN
FREERNESSROES -

RAZEENFHEERATRIEFES LI
BERRDESERATESE L TILBEM )
EWAFTERRMERER -

RZZEZ=F=A=+—H EBEE2%tH
g

Gender Age Group Professional Experience
145 ERap EE U
Property
Investment
Business  Accounting Law and and
Male  Female 40to60 60orabove Management and Finance  Litigation Development
EHERER
Name of Directors EEL B oM 4mZ60m  0mEML  EREE  eREE EEESD S
Mr. 1P Man Tin, David (Chairman) 8K 54 (%) / / /
Dr. SZE Ping Fat EmEEL / / / /
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie BPER A / / / / /
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew Sekis / / / /
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang EEELE / / / /
Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arold REBEE(RZZ22E / / /
(Appointed on 26 August 2022) A= +ABEHA)
Mr. POON Kai Tik ARmEE / / /
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan B / / /
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan REEAE(W-F-2F / / / /

(Retired on 26 August 2022)

NAZtABESR)
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Dividend Policy MR EBER

The Company adopted a dividend policy whereby dividend be declared AR BIHRB AR RS K &K% MK S8 K S BUR
and distributed to the shareholders, provided that the Group records a  HAREEESESBRTIEERN @ URZKREZEIK
profit after tax and that the declaration and distribution of dividend does — RIRZ4AEBEFELL KRS R TEHRZL -
not affect the normal operations and cash flow of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the RETEABEKRENETRESCHR =58

dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia: RER(EPBE)

- the general financial condition of the Group: - AEBZBBEHRBHRR:

- capital and debt level of the Group; - AREEZERREBKE:

- future cash requirements and availability for business operations, - KXBREERULREKLE EXRBER
business strategies and future development needs; ARERFMENITRES

- the general market conditions; - EEmWmR:

- any restrictions on payment of dividend that may be imposed by - $Elff‘7\ B8 L 32 A5 IR B B 0 B 4 )
the Group’s lenders; and PRl

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate. - UEkESeRAGENERAMEE-

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any AAGZMNRENMZBERHEESANERKAA
restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles &) 48 4% = 52 40 Bl &9 (F {a] PR I & 14 »
of Association of the Company.

Final dividends declared by the Company are subject to the approval of AARTRABREBNREBERS FESGRK
Shareholders in general meeting. BZiBiE -

Annual Report 2023 4E# 3 5
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Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees

Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be

counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Board held 15
Board meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all
Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board
and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the

individual Directors are as follows:

EZERRESZEEERZER

RANEEHELELIRENEEEEREER

25%2%7& REFURUBENATRECE
HEAZE - MIFNESRIREEARSTE
ﬂﬁﬁ@j‘( H'JEF%?%%T\@%%H’FE@’“*
EENE

EXERBRESFORR e EHER
H-MEERZEECHOeERESEATIREY
EZRARTHFEEZEALHE -

REE-T-_-F-A=t+-HLZUBFE"
EXQERT5RETEERE BERANES
EXHERBEALFABERAIREEERT
AESEMEARBEZ EFEREFZES
ZREBRFAEFEFECENEESTRREE
B HEERMT

mﬂ> il

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

LEER/ BHEERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Exe %V%a% wHzEe REZEE S
EEpg EE EE EE EE BEXE
Total number of meetings ey 15 4 2 2 1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERXAA(ZE) 15 N/A T NA TER N/A T 1
Dr. SZE Ping Fat i 15 N/A T A NATER N/A T A 1
Executive Directors YiTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie gEra 15 NA T 5 2 2 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew ey ok 15 NA R E R N/A R NIA &R 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang EEELE 15 NA M ER NA M EE NA TR B 1
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUXHTES
Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Amold REREE(R-2-2F 10 2 1 1 A R

(appointed on 26 August 2022) NEZTRBZHE)

Mr. POON Kai Tik BRELA 15 4 2 2 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan HERE 15 4 2 2 1
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRELE(RZBZZF 7 2 1 1 1

(retired on 26 August 2022)

NAZtRBEEL)
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board as
a whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. Company
secretary is made available to provide appropriate update and
application of Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance, to
Directors on request as an ongoing support for continuous learning
in this regard. The inhouse staff training is also open for the Directors
to attend at their convenience. For the financial year ended 31 March
2023, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development and provided the Company with their records
of training. A summary of training records provided by the current
Directors is as follows:

journal and/or updates

it ¥ B B ® &

ERCRESERRE
REREFEABEZEEAMMRIAMBEZERT
HEZRELER  ARAZBEFL2ERER
RBER UBRIEHNTIANE  RERHEK
SEEEZEBRTHER  YMEFRMAK
KEEAZRERMBIRR L FHMER - AR
KERLEEHTEN FEFRZEBLEES
BREBETREZRE - AFNEIRELNES
REETAANMES KRR GPIMEEEHNE
'WEEEE@%GEEWHE§%° NEs &
BAITAREESER I ER2E - RBE-T
::E A=+—HIFE MEEEHELE
REZRBEZIEER  YEAARARERERE
R 28k - EFRME BV CHMENT

Reading articles,
newspapers, Attending trainings
and/or seminars

MEE - BE

Name of Directors EEHE BHE /SH&HER LHEEER /SHIE
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) BERRAE(LE) 4 4
Dr. SZE Ping Fat MEREE T v v
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie R /E 4 4
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEMEE 4 4
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang SEEEE v v
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold REMEE(RZT =

(Appointed on 26 August 2022) NAZ+RBEE) 4 4
Mr. POON Kai Tik ERUE L 4 4
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FERE 4 4
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRrgEEE(RZEZZF

(Retired on 26 August 2022) NAZ+7<H TE) v 4
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Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is good information flow within
the Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Company secretary
has provided her training records to the Company indicating her
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has not appointed an external service provider to act as
company secretary.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.

Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman are separated from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Three of the independent non-executive Directors during the year,
namely Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (retired on 26 August 2022),
Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold (appointed on 26 August 2022) and
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan possess the appropriate professional accounting
experiences and expertise. The Board membership is covered by
professionally qualified and widely experienced personnel with a view to
bringing in valuable contribution and different professional advice and
consultancy for the development of the Company. Over one-half of the
Board members have recognised legal, professional securities and/or
accounting qualifications.
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In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance;

- active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associate;

- approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities;

- monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

- reviewing of the compliance with the CG Code;

- monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction;

- ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics; and

- reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.
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Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees’ authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance with
the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee were revised and approved on 18 July 2005 and 16 March
2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are:-

(a) toreview and supervise the financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the relationship with the auditors and
financial information of the Group.

(b) to report to the Board any suspected fraud and irregularities and
suspected infringements of laws, rules and regulations which
come to its attention and are of sufficient importance to warrant the
attention of the Board.

The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As of 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee of the Company is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Tsun
Choi, Arnold (appointed on 26 August 2022), Mr. POON Kai Tik and
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold. It
reports directly to the Board and reviews matters within the scope of
audit, such as financial statements and internal controls, to protect the
interests of the Company’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2023:

to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- toreview auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;
- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports prepared by the internal
audit function and discuss the risk management and internal
control issues of the Group;

- to undertake review of the 2023 internal audit plan; and

- to perform review of the updated reports on substantiation of the
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and
their training programmes and budget, with a recommendation to
the Board for approval.

Based on the review conducted by the audit committee, the Board
considers that the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function are adequate.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Asian Alliance
(HK) CPA, be nominated for re-appointment as external auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN Tsun
Choi, Arnold (appointed on 26 August 2022) and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan
and an executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON
Kai Tik is appointed as chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
The Committee shall meet not less than once every year. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been reviewed with
reference to the CG Code.
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. Set out below is the summary of work of the
Remuneration Committee done in financial year 2023:

to review the remuneration policy for the financial year 2023;

to review the terms of reference of remuneration of committee;

to review the policy for the remuneration of the Directors; and

to review the plausibility of any share option scheme.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the financial year
ended 31 March 2023. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 21 March 2012
which as of 31 March 2023 is comprising of one executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN Tsun Choi, Arnold (appointed
on 26 August 2022) and Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
which is available on the Company’'s website, set out details of the
Committee’s duties, powers and functions, nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship of the Company, summary of which in the
financial year 2023 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy;

- toreview the size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and length of service) of the Board annually;

- to make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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- toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the financial year
ended 31 March 2023. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appointing as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider if directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

-  Reputation for integrity;

- Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

- Diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.
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Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each department
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets regularly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a regular basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;

- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and

- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investment are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group’s
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure; and
internal control systems of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for

improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

The Board has received from the Compliance Department a
confirmation on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems for the year 2023.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high-risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The internal audit department also conducts follow-up of audits to
ensure previously identified issues have been duly addressed and
corrected.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy of
resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and experience
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting staff in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
being complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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' External Auditors

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited is the Company’s external auditor until
the next annual general meeting, when Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
will stand for re-appointment.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (with comparable for 2022) is set out
below:

EN: 3 4]
EZRER)GTNEBRERAFA/ARAMNI
BREMEZE TERRAFAE  ERERE
BB E B AR A B EEER -

BE-Z_=F=A=+—BIEFE %XH{HT
ERER)GHMEBAARAANMS(BRE =
T _FEHLEFINNT

Service rendered for the Group A& B R 2 R 2023 2022
(In HK$°000) (X FETBEN) —EC=F —TCF
Audit services BB 690 650
Non-audit services FEZRS 90 -

780 650

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 87
to 94.
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Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An AGM held on 26 August 2022, the Chairman of the Board and the
representative of external auditors were available to answer questions
at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures
of conducting a poll during the meeting. All resolutions were proposed
by the Chairman at the AGM and voted separately by way of poll. All the
votes cast at the said meeting were properly counted and recorded.

Shareholder’s Rights and Investor Relations

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the rights of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting its
operation, including environmental, social and governance issues.

This Report was prepared pursuant to the disclosure requirements
as set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” contained in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “ESG Guide”).

The objective of this Report is to highlight the Group’s ESG performance
for the purpose of assisting all stakeholders in understanding the
Group’s ESG concepts and practices in achieving sustainable
development for the future.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of a wide range
of financial services including securities broking, futures broking,
securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance advisory,
assets management, properties investment and precious metal trading.

The Company has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set
out in the ESG Guide for the Reporting Period.

For information regarding the Group’'s financial performance and
corporate governance, please refer to the Group’s annual report.
The Group reviewed, identified, and disclosed herein the material
environmental and social issues and aspects, which are considered to
have significant impacts and are relevant to the Group’s business and
stakeholders during the Reporting Period.

The Group has responsibility to maximize shareholder returns, and this
is aligned with the objective to provide clients with the best service and
platforms. This is achieved not only through the Group having financial
strength but also through investing in its employees and wider social
practices.
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) acknowledged the responsibility
for monitoring and managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness
of the ESG management system. The Board reviews and discusses the
goals and targets under the ESG initiatives to optimise efficient use of
resources and to minimise the impact on the environment and natural
resources from the Group’s operation annually.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s business
strategy in order to achieve business excellence and enhance
capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group is committed to
operating in a manner that is economically, socially and environmentally
sustainable while balancing the interests of various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on society. The Group’s sustainability
strategy is based on compliance with the applicable legal requirements,
sustainability principle and stakeholders’ opinions. The Group has
established and implemented various policies to manage and monitor
the risks related to the environment, employment, operating practices
and community.

The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and governance
structure is vital for the continued sustainability and development of the
Group’s activities. The Group is willing to take more responsibilities for
the society but with a view to balancing the Shareholders’ interests and
the society’s benefits. The Group will continue to strengthen the efforts
in information collection for better performance in the ESG areas and
broader disclosure of related information in sustainable development.

Governance Structure

Board:

- Responsible for the overall decision-making, overseeing the
formulation, administration, monitoring the ESG matters daily, and
assessment of the ESG system.

Functional Department:
- Responsible for the execution of implemented measured to
achieve the set strategies and targets.
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND PRINCIPLES

Objectives:

The Group is committed to be a successful operator in its business
activities, bringing returns to its investors and stakeholders, providing a
healthy and safe working environment to its employees, and helping to
extend sustainable development and betterment for the Group and local
communities at large.

Scope:
This Report has been prepared in accordance with ESG Guide and the
Group has complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing
Rules.

In preparing this Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the guidance materials
on ESG issued by Stock Exchange for computing the relevant key
performance indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change from previous
year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared.

The application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of this Report.

Whilst the Group has operations and business activities in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC, majority of the activities and contribution come
from Hong Kong, and thus this Report is primarily addressed to the
Hong Kong aspects and exposure.

Divided into two parts, the first part of the ESG Report highlights the
environmental initiatives carried out by the Group, whereas the latter
part elaborates on the social impact brought by the Group primarily in
Hong Kong, during the Reporting Period.

This Report set out the work we have done in the past and the future
plans for business sustainability.
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Reporting Principles:

5
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=
The Group has prepared this Report in accordance with the following AREBBE KB THRERBIRRUANRS -
reporting principles:

*  Materiality:

e Quantitative:

e Consistency:

e Balance:

Important and relevant information to stakeholders
on different ESG aspects is covered in the Report. A
materiality assessment was conducted to determine
material ESG issues with results approved by the
Board.

The relevant standards, methodologies and
assumptions used to prepare the quantitative
information are disclosed, as appropriate.
Quantitative information (KPls and comparative
figures) is provided with narrative and comparative
figures, where possible.

Consistent statistical methodologies are used
to prepare and present ESG data in the Report,
unless otherwise specified, to allow for meaningful
comparisons. In case of any changes in the reporting
scope or methodologies they shall be explained for
the reference of stakeholders.

The information is presented without the
inappropriate use of selections, omissions or other
forms of manipulation that would influence a decision
or judgment by the reader. The Group’s performance
has been presented in an unbiased manner.
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“'REPORTING PERIOD AND BOUNDARY

This Report demonstrates the Group’s sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”). There was no material change to the methods or KPIs used by
the Group in the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The Group did
not have any reporting boundaries for this Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business in the
challenging market depends on the support from its key stakeholders,
who (a) have invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability
to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in
or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the
Group’s activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the
Group to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain a good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from the
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s
business activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are
important to the Group’s business and established various channels for
communication.

The following table provides an overview of the Group’s key

stakeholders, and various platforms and methods of communication
used to reach, listen and respond.
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Key stakeholders
TEEREA

Main concerns
TEBEIER

Channels for communication/feedback
BE/RERE

g8 Rk E OB OB &

Regulatory bodies

EEHME

Shareholders and Investors

BREEBREE

Customers

Employees

Smo
H

Community

it

Legal compliance

Anti-corruption and anti-money

laundering

ARMEE

REBRRLE

Operation performance
Risk management

@ e A 4
MEREE

[ o 52

Customer relationship
Responsible investment
Risk management

BEFEE
EARE
[2 e 72

Long-term career development

Health and safety
Remuneration and benefits
Staff training

REEXER
fERiEee

5 B K B A

B T3

Community service

NS

Policies and regulations updates
On-site investigations

Formal correspondence
Tele-communication

Compliance Reports

Training focus groups and other events
BE KERE

Ri5HE

EAE K

BTEE

BRWmE
EIE R NMARE AEED

Company website

Annual general meeting and other
general meetings

Public reports

Corporate communication including
announcements, circular to
shareholders, interim and annual reports
NGIEES

BREBFAEREMBRRAS

NGE

PEBRA BEAE  BURRAEE - B
BENFERS

Physical meeting and reviews
Telephone/E-mails

Surveys

Conferences

EREENED

B/ BTHHY

Gle

e

Regular management & staff meeting
Recreational and volunteer activities
Internal policy circulation
Performance evaluation
Seminars and briefing sessions
FTHERKREI®S
RERERRED

N ERBUR FiE

KRB

maekdge

Staff volunteer activities
Sponsorships and donations
BIRIES

BB A8
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions,
and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the
business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are reported in
the Report according to the recommendations of the ESG Guide.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

J Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers. The Group has adopted the international standards and
emission factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG
issued by Stock Exchange for computing the relevant KPIs.

J The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of the
ESG Guide.

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

o The Group discussed with key stakeholders about key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Step 3: Validation - Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Guide.
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Based on the results of the assessment, the Board will review the
Company’s longer-term strategy for addressing specific sustainability
issues and explore future opportunities for improving the sustainability
performance and reporting.

The Group's material ESG issues are summarized as follows:

Material environmental aspects:
- Use of electricity
Non-Hazardous waste

Air emissions

Material social aspects:
Health and safety

Service responsibility

Anti-corruption

STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on this Report for
the Group’s sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email at
info@upbest.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Overview

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have a significant impact on the
environment or natural resources. In spite of this, the Group
are committed to continuously improving the environmental
sustainability of the Group’s business and ensuring that
environmental consideration remains one of the key focuses in
fulfilling the obligations to both the environment and community.
To demonstrate the commitment to sustainable development,
the Group have established relevant emission reduction and
energy-saving initiatives to manage the emission and maintain
green operations.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all of
the relevant environmental laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311), the Sewage Services Ordinance (Chapter 463) and the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354). Besides, during
the Reporting Period, the Group were not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group related to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The Group also
regularly update with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

In summary, the Group has continued with its environmental
policies and strategies in developing a sustainable business
by undertaking initiatives on resources conservation and
environmental protection, as well as saving operating costs.

The Group has taken an active role to ensure a sustainable
and environmentally friendly processes by complying with
all related international and local laws and standards. When
carrying out operational activities, the Group has assumed
social responsibilities and initiatives to prevent pollution, reduce
wastes and minimize negative impact to the environment, and
save energy, water, and other resources.
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EMISSIONS A1, R

Air Pollutant Emissions ZRI5 R

Air emission control is essential to mitigate environmental BEERHEPIEH S RERETENRERE
impacts and protect employees’ health. As the Group is mainly ERFEZHEZ AREEETIENRE
involved in general office activities, the amount of air pollutant —BBMAEEL  WERSEMERE
emissions is insignificant. The air pollutant emissions are mainly WTEMN - ZR52EMEREERR SR
generated from the executive passenger vehicles used for senior THEIRAMEITIRANRSRAER
executive staff's local travel and staff travelling by air and by ETHERRERENGE - HE)HEH
cars. The emission from motor vehicles imposed an immaterial I EAERRTETRTRANTETK -
impact on the overall air pollution in Hong Kong. The detail of RE|EH  AEEMZER)G RN
air pollutant emissions of the Group during the Reporting Period BOT :

was as follows:

Unit 2023 2022
Type of air pollutants ZERISRER By —E-= —T__
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) RAELW(NO,) kg AfT 2.63 1.90
Sulphur dioxide (SO,) AL ¥(SO,) kg AT 0.04 0.04
Particulate matter (PM) F5)F B RL(PM) kg AT 0.19 0.14
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Climate change is gradually concerned by the community.
The Group recognises that climate change poses a risk to its
business and it is committed to mitigating the effects of climate
change. Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1
direct emissions and scope 2 and 3 indirect emissions have
mainly resulted from the combustion of fuels in motor vehicles,
purchased electricity and paper waste. Giving the majority of the
GHG emissions of the Group come from energy consumption,
the Group place great emphasis on improving energy efficiency
and reducing energy consumption. The Group have adopted
energy-saving initiatives mentioned in the section “Use of
Resources” of this Report. The Group aims to continuously
reduce or at least maintain the current GHG emissions at a
stable level in the next 3 years as the medium-term target
compared to this Reporting Period. The GHG emissions of the
Group during the Reporting Period were as follows:

RERB(REREDHER

ﬁﬁ BERHXIENET - AEE
RARGECHEEBEKRRR - BN
NRFEREECHTE -BAKER
EREBHERME  SENERERKEE
RSBEHREZREMERE ERHL
R BABNRRBHAR - ERAEE
RBPBRERBHEHREERBE &
FEEREERERMAERRBDEERE -
AEBERRAREERANA]I -6
MAVERRERE I o EANREHARL - AKE
BEERARIFEBEANBEZREIKRE
RBERSAELHFRIBEKTERF
HBE WSS ARENREREH
W

Type of air Unit 2023 2022 2021

pollutants ERITEMER By —E-= e —T_—F

Scope 1 #E tonnes of CO,-e 7.2 7.8 7.1
AE—ELikEE

Scope 2? (%] 22 tonnes of CO,-e 79.6 104.1 106.2
APE—ELikEE

Scope 3° #[E3° tonnes of CO,-e 7.8 8.5 6.5
APE—ELikEE

Total GHG BERBAHHRE  tonnes of CO,e 94.6 120.4 119.8
Emission APE—ELiEE

GHG Intensity RERBTE tonnes of CO,-e/employee 2.49 3.01 2.99

AM-_RLIREERE

! Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

2 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group.

8 Scope 3: Includes all other indirect emissions that occur in the
Group’s value chain.
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Statistics shows that the Group’s manages to reduce the GHG
emissions (including this Reporting Period). Hence, the Group’s
commitment for reduction or at least maintaining GHG emissions
at a stable level on the coming “3-year” direction is reasonable
and achievable.

Sewage Discharge

The Group does not consume a significant volume of water
in its daily operation due to its office-based nature, therefore
its business activities did not generate a material portion of
discharge into water. Since the sewage discharged by the
Group is discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network
to the regional water purification plant, water consumed by the
Group is considered sewage discharged.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group recognises the importance of waste reduction. Waste
management measures have been introduced to minimise
the amount of waste generated and reduce the impact of the
Group’s operation on the environment. Due to the Group’s
business operation nature, no hazardous waste was generated
during the Reporting Period.

Due to the nature of office operation, non-hazardous waste can
be classified into two categories, including domestic waste
generated from the daily operation and recyclable waste.

The Group strives to reduce the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated (mainly used papers and office utensils generated
from general office) by inter alias, ensuring collection of them
by the cleaning workers of the building management office on
a daily basis and strengthening the environmental awareness
of employees by introducing various waste reduction measures
and education as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources”
of this Report. The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current
non-hazardous consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years
as compared to this Reporting Period.

* 8 R § A B &
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The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during the
Reporting Period was as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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RBEH AEBELANETERZYN

Unit 2023 2022 2021
Type of waste BEEYERI By —EZ= —E-C —T_—F
Non-hazardous waste BEEEY tonnes 1.53 1.75 1.30
N}
Non-hazardous waste EEEEWEE  tonnes/employee 0.04 0.04 0.03

intensity NP

Continuous improvement the current 3-year base is
demonstrated, which is expected to be the trend for the coming
“3-year” base.

Summary Observations

Whilst the Board believes that the activities of the Group do not
materially contribute to pollution or cause material damage to the
environment, nevertheless the Group has taken all practicable
steps to meet statutory requirements and minimize its impacts
on the environment and encourages its employees to conserve
energy, minimize waste and recycle work materials.

As of 31 March 2023, there has been no violation by the Group
of applicable law and regulations relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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USE OF RESOURCES

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential
component of a sustainable and responsible business. The
Group has an in-depth understanding of the importance of
safeguarding sustainable development of the environment
and attaches importance to efficient utilization of resources by
introducing various measures in daily business operations. The
Group understand that staff participation is the key to achieving
such goals. The Group have adopted energy and water
efficiency initiatives policies to motivate the employees to
participate in resource conservation activities.

Energy consumption

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential
component of a sustainable and responsible business. With aims
of resource-saving and implementing energy-saving measures,
the Group actively promote the concept of energy-saving and
emission reduction into its business development and operation.
The Group have advocated various energy conservation
strategies as follows:

- Promote the green office concept in the workplace to
save electricity consumption.

- Set up the temperature of air-conditioner according to
seasonal changes.

- Switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch
break or during the time working outside the office and
wherever possible.

- Energy-efficient office equipment is always preferred in
making purchase decisions.

A2,
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Water consumption

Water is an important natural resource. The business of the
Group is operated in leased office premises where the water
supply is solely controlled and centrally managed by the
building management company. In this case, it is not feasible for
us to provide water consumption data as there is no separate
meter for each individual office unit to record water usage data.
In spite of this, the Group still actively seek ways to reduce water
consumption in daily operation by encouraging employees to
turn taps off tightly to prevent the dripping of water and giving
priority to effective water-saving products. The Group does not
have difficulty in sourcing water in the Reporting Period.

Paper consumption

Paper is one of the major natural resources consumed by the
Group. Paper consumption mainly comes from the operations of
the offices. To reduce the consumption of paper, the Group has
adopted the following practices:

- Encourage to use duplex printing for internal documents
in order to maximise the usage of waste paper

- Facilities and procedures are in place for paper waste
recycling

Use of packaging material

Due to the business nature (as a service provider), the Group
does not consume a significant amount of product packaging
materials as the Group does not have any industrial productions
nor any manufacturing facilities.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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Total resource consumption of the Group by category during the RBEH AEENEREERERE
Reporting Period was as follows: REDWT
2023 2022 2021
Type of energy BE R 28 R —E-= - —T_—F
Energy consumption BERAE A
Purchased electricity BAEN 114,542 146,543 150,848 kWh
FILE
Petrol b 35,300 28,545 26,497 kWh
FILE
Total energy consumption BREERE 149,842 175,088 177,346 kWh
FILE
Energy intensity BREE 3,943 4,377 4,33 kWh/
employee
ThE/EE
Water consumption FEK
Water 7K 633 375 484 m3
SR
Water intensity BKEE 16.7 9.3 12.1 m¥employee
NAK/EE
Paper consumption K
Paper K oR 1.53 1.75 1.30 tonnes
NI
Paper intensity RHERE 0.04 0.04 0.03 tonnes/
employee
AW EE

In addition to the resource conservative measures as stated
above, the Group also actively participates in recycling
schemes. Equipment such as computers, printers and toner

cartridges are returned to suppliers. An electronic platform is

used within the Group for internal administration and effective

communication with all staff at the office.
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The Group is committed to upholding resource conservation and
environmental protection in the Group’s business operation. In
the future, the Group continue its commitment to environmental
protection and strive to build a greener and sustainable
environment.

The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current resource
consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years as compared to
this Reporting Period.

Summary Observations

The positive results on effective use of resources are attributable
among others the proper execution of the policy directives on
the matter, which in general include: -

> Staff being encouraged to travel on public transport
facilities as far as practicable;

> Use of video and telephone conferencing as much as
possible to reduce travelling;

> Increasing electronic storage of documents rather than
retention of hard paper copies;

> Encouraging employee to avoid leaving taps running
when lathering hands with soaps and report any leaks to

prevent water wastage;

» Reduction in paper usage through double sided printing
and copying and using recycling paper;

> Electronic distribution of reports, contract notes, etc., to
reduce paper consumption;

» Recycling of waste wherever possible; and

» Using more energy saving LED lights and switching off
idle lightings and electrical appliance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Board understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase business
opportunities. Regarding the business nature of the Group
(which is primarily an office-based operations), the Board is not
aware of any significant impact of the business activities on the
environment and natural resources. Despite this, the Board uses
the best to endeavour to lead the Group to consistently improve
environmental performance by implementing the aforementioned
waste reduction measures, and resource-saving initiatives —
the "reduce", "reuse" and 'recycle" concepts. The Group will
continue to seek opportunities to further reduce emissions and
resources consumption with the aim to reduce the impacts on
the environment and natural resources to minimal.

CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group’s principal businesses have no direct effect on facing
climate change. However, climate change risk is increasing,
and extreme weather is affecting the Global in recent years. The
Board believes that no one can escape from climate change,
and everyone should put effort into tackling the issue.

Consideration has been taken into account the potential
climate-rated risks in respect of the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure, being
Physical Risks, represented by Acute risks and Chronic risks,
as well as Compliance Risks (due to regulatory change on
environmental factor).

Acute risks

Extreme weather such as rainstorms and typhoons may cause
damage to building foundations, damage to utility cables, risk of
rain penetration due to heavy rain and storm surges. There is a
risk of failure in the operation of the Group.

Storm surges and heavy rain would cause tree failure and
immediate dangers to the safety of the employees.

The extreme weather may cause damage to the direct and indirect
risk to telecommunications and computer failure. The unstable
network would cause risk to the principal business activities which
are securities trading and other operations of the Group.
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The Board has developed mitigation measures for the Group to
reduce the effect raised by typhoons on employees and office. For
instance, before the Black Rainstorm Warning Signals and No. 8 or
above Tropical Cyclone Warning Signals are incurred, the Group
will release employees from work and ensure there is sufficient time
for their journeys between living place and the office.

Chronic risk

In long-term, climate change would change chronic health
conditions. For example, the higher temperature would result
in changes in transmission patterns of infectious diseases or a
higher risk of thermal stress.

The Group would regularly raise the awareness of the employees
about the risk of health issues caused by fluctuation of
temperature as well as the risk of infectious diseases. At the
current stage, the chronic risk to the Company is not significant.

Compliance risk

The law and regulations are expected to be changed for the
higher requirement of ESG-related disclosure. For example, the
Group is expected to incur higher compliance costs to comply
with the ESG-related disclosure requirement of the Group's
businesses. Failure of disclosure or incorrect disclosure may
impose a higher compliance risk on the Group.

The compliance risk would be addressed by the regular
collection of relevant ESG-related data and the local laws and
regulations regarding the ESG-related aspect. In addition,
this may mean an increased pricing of greenhouse gas
remissions. Occasion may exist such that there is a shift of
client’s preference to other service providers that are more
active in incorporating environmentally friendly concept, which
means loss of clients thereby resulting in loss of revenue.

To minimize this exposure, the Board has continuously cultivated the
team to keep close contacts with the clients to get better awareness
of the client’s intention and concern for possible “change of service
provider” due to ecology issue such that timely explanation of the
Group’s ecology protection policies and directives could be put forth
to the clients on a more proactive manner.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been seriously
affected by the extreme weather conditions or any compliance
risk exposure.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Overview

It has been the Group’s objective in term of (a) bringing returns
to its investors and supporters, (b) providing a healthy and
safe working environment to its employees, and (c) creating a
sustainable development for the local community.

The Board has therefore formulated and implemented the ESG
strategies, policies, rules, and regulations by incorporating the
Group’s long- and short-term goals with considerations on the
stakeholders and the community.

The Group is therefore committed to operate its business in an
open, transparent, and fair way, through which there should
bring benefits to stakeholders and contribute the growth and
development of the community at large.

ESG Code states that “Social” aspects include “Employment
and Labour Practices”, “Operating Practices” and “Community”
which are reported in more details hereunder.

HEEE

Bk
SENBERE-BERQ@AREEMHE
TRE®R D)ARBIRRRENZEH
THERE  UWR(c)REMEREIER
BERE-

Fit B2 eRBEAEENRHENE
HEGURBESHEANLRNEE
PIEMERTRRE HEREARER
B~ B RBIMDER -

Bt - AEBRAUARH - BARLDTH
HAREEER AMARSHAEAT
RAE - W AREEL R KRR
HER

RS HENERREEAMRE (18]
THEBRIEENESHER] [ELE
BIMHE] - TXSE T EHAN

W]

Annual Report 2023 4E#

69



70

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R

B1.

-

*# 8 kX E A

&

“EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

EMPLOYMENT

Employees are the most important asset that can drive the
long-term development and sustainability of the Group. The
Group provide benefits to employees including salaries,
incentives, directors’ fees and contribution to a defined
contribution retirement scheme. Remuneration and benefits
packages are determined with reference to the qualifications,
experience, position, skills, capability and performance of
employees benchmarking against prevailing local industry
norms. The human resources department is entrusted to
ensure that the Group’s policies and regulations in respect
of remuneration, dismissal, recruitment, and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare are in
compliance with the following applicable employment-related
laws and regulations in Hong Kong:

o Employment Ordinance

. Minimum Wage Ordinance

o Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

J Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance

J Family Status Discrimination Ordinance

J Race Discrimination Ordinance

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
J Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
o Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

During the Reporting Period, the Group has no known
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations. The Group
has used the best endeavour to provide a well-structured and
caring working environment to raise their sense of belonging and
work efficiency in the Group.
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As of 31 March 2023, the employee compositions (in numbers of RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—8 " &EA
employees, excluding independent non-executive directors) by EERER  ERARNLRMEREESH
gender, employee category, age group and geographical region BEHEK (NEE TREBLIENTE
were as follows: E)HES)WMT :

2023 2022 2021
Employee Structure BEZRE —E-= ZT=F —TZ—F
Total number of employees BEBY 38 40 40
By gender &R
Male B 20 21 22
Female i 18 19 18
By age RER
Aged below 30 305 AT - - -
Aged 30-60 30£605% 28 29 30
Aged 61 or above 61583 A+ 10 1 10
By Employment Type ZESER
Full time £ 38 40 40
Part-time e - - -
By Geographical Region Zih B &
Hong Kong o 37 39 39
Macau R P 1 1 1

Annual Report 2023 £} 7 1



72

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B KR £ 8 k B B &K &

The employee turnover rates is as under:

2023 2022 2021
Employment =4 —T-= —T--F ZEB-—F
By gender B R
- Male -B 15 19 5 %
- Female -k 6 - 22 %
By age BER
- Aged below 30 —30BMA T - - - %
- Aged 30-60 —30E605% 7 14 17 %
- Aged 61 or above —B1R A £ 20 - - %
Overall &t 4 4 5

The overall employee turnover rate is contained at 10%, which

is in line with the market norm at 10.3% (per HK Institute

of Human Resources Management), thereby reflecting the
acceptability of the Group’s employment practice of offering all
suitable employees’ opportunity for development and career

advancement through promotions and transfers from within the
Group, and the management “caring” attention towards the staff

force for increasing their loyalty to the Group.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group strictly adhere to the laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety, for example, the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance. The Group seek to provide a safe,
healthy and comfortable working environment for employees to
minimise any adverse health and safety impacts arising from the
Group’s operation, which include among others: -

> All employees being reminded of their having a duty to
exercise responsibility and do everything possible to
prevent injury to themselves and others.

» Office employees being assigned with individual
workstations.

> Offices being properly lit and ventilated, kept clean and
tidy with ample space between workstations.

> Offices being smoke-free.

> Office furniture and fittings being well maintained and
replaced where necessary.

> Security measures being in place at our offices to restrict
entry and exit only to staff and permitted visitors.

> Government’s work guidelines on typhoon and rainstorm
warnings being adhered to.

Due to the impact of COVID-19, the Company holds a cautious
attitude on a series of prevention measures to ensure employees
with a safe and comfortable working environment during the
review period. The Group has purchased additional cleaning
and epidemic prevention equipment and consumables such as
surgical face masks, sanitiser etc. The Group has implemented
precautionary measures to prevent and control the spread of
COVID-19 in the working place, including compulsory body
temperature checks, the mandatory wearing of a surgical face
mask, limit the visitor to access the office.

With the above measures implemented, there was no
work-related fatal or injury for the past three years. The Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group in
providing a safe and healthy working environment during the
Reporting Period.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous
development and updates of relevant laws and
regulations. Employees, especially those who are involved
in regulated businesses and activities, have to receive
continuous professional training including on-the-job training,
in-house regular meetings and training programs organised
by professional bodies to keep abreast of the latest market
practices and matters relating to the daily job duties. In-house
regular meetings and training are tailor-made by directors and
senior management which covered the key aspects as follows:

o Compliance and regulatory - general compliance,
market and regulatory updates, prevention of bribery,
bankruptcy laws, data privacy, and the Money Lender’s
Ordinance;

o Management skills and personal development -
leadership skills, supervisory skills, KPI setting,
communication and interpersonal skills, creative thinking
and problem-solving skills, self-development skills; and

o General training - language skills, computer skills, debt

collection skills and customer service skills.

Employees are encouraged to attend seminars and read
prescribed periodicals to update the industry and regulatory
latest developments for their continuing competence and
professional employees are required to comply with continuous
professional training and examination requirements as stipulated
in relevant regulations.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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The training details during the Reporting Period were as follows:

The percentage of employees trained by gender

RBEHNOEINFEOT

BERESNZIEET I

Male St 85%
Female g3 50%
The percentage of employees trained by REBENEI»NZIEERD L

employment category
General LTmES 52%
Middle management PRERE 100%
Senior management BREERE 100%

Average training hours for employees by gender

Male B

Female ZE

Average training hours for employees by
employment category

BRI 0B B 1335 3 B B

8.50 hours 7|\

6.30 hours /N

RERERE D NESFIIEINEE

General LRES 2.39 hours /N
Middle management HRERE 13.80 hours /\B
Senior management BREEE 18.10 hours /]\E

LABOUR STANDARDS

Child or forced labour is prohibited in the Group’s operation
which was in compliance with the Employment of Children
Regulations, made under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57).
To avoid such practices happening in the Group, the human
resources department is responsible to check the resume,
original identification cards and other certificates of new jointers
and potential candidates in order to eliminate the possibility
of child and forced labour in the employment. The human
resources department also communicates with the candidates’
preceded employment for verification purposes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to the
recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.

B4.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

B5.

B6.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Due to the Group’s business nature(as a service provider), the
Group maintains business relationships with suppliers including
various computer system and software vendors, providers of
market information, legal advisers and other business services
professionals. The procurement decision is based on criteria
such as price, reputation, track record of high corporate
standards, expertise, capacity, creditability, business stability
and product/service quality which the Group consider would
not pose significant social risks for the business. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 25 suppliers in Hong
Kong and 1 supplier in another area.

In order to minimise possible disruptions to the supply chain, the
management from different functional departments maintained
a close dialogue with the suppliers. The Group also expect
that suppliers of the Group are of high quality and operate in
compliance with applicable local environmental laws, ordinances
and regulations.

SERVICES RESPONSIBILITY

The business activities of the Group are required to comply
with the rules and regulations of various regulators in Hong
Kong such as Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. The Group is
responsible to comply with the requirements of the rules and
regulations in Hong Kong relating to the services responsibility
as below:

J Code of Conducts for Persons Licensed by or Registered
with the Securities and Future Commission

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)

J Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Securities) rules

o Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance

J Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance

o Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

o United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t £ H4 WA A )
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The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage
loans, consumer finance and small business loans are provided
through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operates
under the Money Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLO”), being licensed
money lenders. The Group also provides margin financing to
clients through another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
operating under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”),
being licensed margin financier. During the year, the Group
had no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws or
regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focus on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee of the Group regularly reviews the update of the code
of practice and relevant regulations to make sure compliance
in various business aspects such as customer relationship,
know-your-client, anti-money laundering, credit valuation,
collection and recovery and data privacy.

The Group emphasises the importance of providing quality
services to clients. All operational departments are responsible
for the implementation of the established policies and
procedures based on the internal control manuals set out by
the Group. The internal control manuals of the Group contain
guidelines and implementation plans to ensure:

° conduct business in an orderly and efficient manner;

o protect the security of the assets for the Group and
clients;

o maintain proper records and ensure the reliability of
financial information and other information used by the
Group;

o prevent and detect potential fraud; and

o comply with all applicable laws and regulatory

requirements.

The directors and compliance officer are responsible for
overseeing the day-to-day operations of departments and
ensuring that the internal control procedures are followed. In
case of any complaint received from clients either verbally or in
writing, the compliance department will review such complaints
to ensure that they are handled in a prompt and appropriate
manner. A customer services hotline is set up to handle
complaints from clients. All valid complaints will be recorded
monthly by the compliance department. During the Reporting
Period, the Group have not received any complaints from clients.
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The Group emphasises the importance of protecting the privacy
of clients in the collection, processing and use of their personal
data and is committed to compliance with the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance and other relevant codes of practice issued
by the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data.

The Group have a contractual obligation to protect the information
of clients as stated in the account opening agreements and treat
their transactions record and personal information as private and
confidential, subject to the disclosure requirements under the
relevant laws, rules and regulations.

All the clients’ personal documents are being kept by the
operation departments with sufficient privacy measures. It is the
Group policy which requires employees to keep confidential of
the information including client information as they are deemed
to be non-public information. Those Information is only available
for the enquiries by the staff responsible for company operation
so as to ensure client information security.

During the Reporting Period, The Group have not received any
complaints from clients relating to the violation of the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

The Group takes great care to the avoidance of risks of
infringement of intellectual property rights. All products used by the
Group are purchased through legitimate sources. Currently there is
no infringement of intellectual property case by the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group strictly complies with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) enforced
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption to prevent
unethical pursuit. The Group place great importance on
maintaining the highest standards of integrity and honesty and
has no tolerance for any misconduct case. Once a misconduct
case is discovered and confirmed, the employee will be
subject to disciplinary action and the case will be reported to
relate governing body when necessary. The Group also fully
cooperate with the international drive against services crime,
drug trafficking and terrorism and is committed to assisting
the authorities in identifying money laundering and terrorist
financing transactions. The Group strictly adhere to the
applicable laws and rules in anti-money laundering and terrorist
financing, including but not limited to the Drug Trafficking
(Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance, Organised and Serious
Crimes Ordinance, Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing, and United Nation (Anti-Terrorism
Measure) Ordinance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A )
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The Group has implemented an effective whistle-blower policy
for reporting alleged malpractices, misconduct, fraud and
corruption. Employees are encouraged to report on suspected
business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically
for this purpose. The Group promises to fully support the
whistle-blowers and the identity of the whistle-blowers is also
well protected. The policy stipulates that management, and as
appropriate along with the Company’s Audit Committee, takes
immediate action to investigate the issue.

The Group is committed to strengthening compliance
training. Reading materials in relation to business ethics and
anti-corruption conducted by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC”) were circulated to the Directors and
staff of the Group, so as to enhance employees’ understanding
of anti-bribery and anti-corruption.

The compliance officer is made available for consultation by the
operational staff for any matters relating to this aspect, to keep
the team better equipped with the development of practice and
regulations on anti-bribery and anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

COMMUNITY

BS.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which the
Group operate. The Group encourage our employees to pursue
their personal passions and dedicate their time and skills to
supporting local communities. The Group strive to develop
long-term relationships with the stakeholders and bring a
positive impact on community development.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

B HERERBEERS

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

THESE - BH  —REERBERERIERKPIS) = BX

A. Environmental 3 5

A1: Emissions HEH )

General Disclosure — i} & “Emissions” [ HEH 4 59

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data ~ “Emissions — Air Pollutant 59

Emissions”

MREBIRZAL BRI AR B R [HER) — 2SR5 R HERR

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 60
appropriate, intensity Emissions”

BMREBEFAL2 AERBEAFHER (WER)EBE [HER Y — R = R BB AU

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where not applicable - The Group 61
appropriate, intensity generates no hazardous waste.

MREBRFAIS MELASEEVEER(HER)TE TNER - FEETRELREERY) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and 61-62
appropriate, intensity Non-hazardous Wastes”

BREVEZAILL MELEZEZEVEER(HER)TE (B —BEREEEEY )

KPI' A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 60
results achieved Emissions”

BEREBIRITALE B R B AR 2 618 i K P AR [HERY) — R = R 8B

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions — Hazardous and 61

RSB IR IRA1.6

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved

WillEE A E NEZTEREYN L BB R TR

Non-hazardous Wastes”

(R -BEREEERY)
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
THESE - BH  —RKERBEREBIERKPIS)

g R E

Section
=401

Pages

B

A2: Use of Resources &R {FH

General Disclosure — %% &

“Use of Resources” [ &R ]

63

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in

total and intensity

BRENERA21 REVESHERR /IRELREEEREE

“Use of Resources”

[ERE A

65

KPI A2.2
BRIERUEIRA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity
BFEKEREE

“Use of Resources”

[ER A

65

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved

BREMIEITA2.3 IR BEIRE B W i i AT R

“Use of Resources - Energy
Consumption”

[BREE A — R )

63-64

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved

BREMERA24  HAKBGERKREE B ERERE - ARG E KA

“Use of Resources — Water
Consumption”

[ERER — K]

64

R

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced

MREMERFA25 HEADAALEYHNESR (HER) BEEELHLE

“Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material”

[BRER—ERBEN]

64

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources &5 R X AL R

General Disclosure — %% &

“The Environment and Natural
Resources” [IRIER KAER

67

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

M EBEBERBRRAERNE KZE A RPTRER
ERAUTENTE

B SR 4B IR 1RAS.1

No significant impact of activities
on the environment and natural

resources was noted.
W EHREHEBERER
AABRBEATE -

N/A

i A
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
A4: Climate Change R1Z%# 1t
General Disclosure — % i & “Climate Change” [ R {% &1t | 67-68
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues No significant impact on climate 68
which have impacted, and those which may impact, change was noted.
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them
MRERIERAL HABHRAREETABRKYENEARIKIEH TEERERERE(CEEATE -
MR8 ARPIEREGE IR E BN TE
B. Social # &
Employment and Labour Practices Bk % T &8
B1: Employment Ef&
General Disclosure —f% i & “Employment” [{E{& | 69
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment category, age  “Employment” 70
group and geographical region
MRERIEREBI RIS ERERN  FRAMNIHEREESHNEES [MEfE]
mE
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and ‘Employment” 71
geographical region
MSERIEEB1.2 IR FRAMN KBRS S HERREAE [MEfE]
B2: Health and safety @R %2
General Disclosure — i} i & “Health and Safety” [EERZ 2 | 73
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No case of work-related fatality 73
was noted.
BREREEB21 FETITHMABREE WERFHRATTHNER -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury No case of lost days due to work 73

MBENIEEB22 RAIBRAIERE

injury was noted.
WA THRA TIEE SEEE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBEREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 73
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored
MREMRIEB23 HAMRDOBERELZ 2R BRREEH EERRZZ]
B3: Development and Training /& K 3%
General Disclosure — f% i & “Development and Training” 74
[ 8% K&
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and “‘Development and Training” 75
employee category
MBREMIEEB3  RURIRERRFIESNXIEEB AL [ & k&
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee ‘Development and Training” 75
by gender and employee category
MREREEB2 RUFIKEEEMNEASNEEREITKZINTARE  [EHEKE]
B4: Labour Standards % T 8|
General Disclosure — % i & “Labour Standards” [ 4 T %8| | 75
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 75
practices to avoid child and forced labour
MBERIEEBA R EREMNERARRERE I RBHET [T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices No non-compliance with relevant 75

when discovered

BEENEGRBL 2 HAEZERERBAGERZSTRAMERRNTSR

laws and regulations related

to recruitment of child labour

or forced labour practices was

noted.
WEEFREMAETEMEBEREL

358 1 85 T1T AW ABEE JUE

REVBER o
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
Operating Practices & ¥ 18
B5: Supply Chain Management £ fE$E & 18
General Disclosure — % & “Supply Chain Management” 76
[ e e |
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management” 76
BMEENIETEBS1 EMEBEEHISMEERHE [ e E IR |
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain Management” 76
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored
MREMEIEB.2 HAZERHEENER BnAESHAOMERANE - [HEEERE]
EikEREAN
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental ~ “Supply Chain Management” 76
and social risks along the supply chain, and how
they are implemented and monitored
HREMIEEB5.3 M AABRHEERPREREGRARNER ULE  [HERERE]
HERERT
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote “Supply Chain Management” 76
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HRENIEEB5.4 MAAARKEHERRREERRERERBNESR - [HERERE]
DA R B i ] B R 07 3\
B6: Product Responsibility = 7 S 1F
General Disclosure — %1 & “Services Responsibility” 76-78
[RBEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject No product sold or shipped 78

to recalls for safety and health reasons

BMIREMIERB6.1 EHEIHMEERMAETRZ 2 RRRRE AR K
Bl

subject to recalls for safety and
healthy reasons.

TEEHENHEERAT 2 R
RERA AR U
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THESE - BH  —RKERBEREBIERKPIS) =40 AR
KPI B6.2 Number of products and services related complaints No products and services related 78
received and how they are dealt with complaints received.
MRENEIEB6.2 HEFABEMNMRBHRFTEREES N WA ER BE m RIRE R -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and “Services Responsibility” 76-78
protecting intellectual property rights
BREMIEIFB6.3 HMEBTRARENZEENEAER [RBEE]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Services Responsibility” 76-78
procedures
MREMIEIEB6.4  HMESMTEREREKIERF (AR & £
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy “Services Responsibility” 76-78
policies, how they are implemented and monitored
MRENEIEBES HWIEEEEHRERALBER BREEESA [RBEE]
B7: Anti-corruption R &8
General Disclosure —f% % & “Anti-corruption” [ R E & | 78-79
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No concluded legal case 79
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its regarding corrupt practices
employees during the reporting period and the was noted.
outcomes of the case
MREMBEIFB7Y RBEPARETAIHERRENCARERERE TEERCARNERERRN -
8B kR
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 78-79
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored
MBERIEEB7.2 HARMERIBEREF BREEKERFR RER]
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Anti-corruption 78-79

RIS 4E MIE1EBT.3

directors and staff
BIMESRETIRENREBE
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THESE - BH  —RKERBREBIERKPIS) =40 BX

Community # &

B8: Community Investment B % &

General Disclosure — it & “Community Investment” 79
HERE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment” 79

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

MREMIEIEBS HIGRER(NHE RRFE SHIFK BE [MtRRE]
Xt - 8#5F)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the - N/A
focus area

MEEMIEEBS2 HEIGBEMHANER (NS ENREHE) - TNEA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

/ EE(EE)SHMEEMERLT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

B MY &% B OB R F
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EX-AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED

‘{e’ Key audit matter

BRELER

BRENSZE-&

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EFNMARERTEERRERSE

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing

REEXRRARBME N S RRFENRERG

As disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2023, the Group’s gross amounts of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing amounted to approximately
HK$758,678,000 and HK$118,042,000 respectively, and an allowance
for credit losses of interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing amounted to approximately HK$118,502,000 and
HK$80,108,000 respectively were included in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

BMEEMBREMFIMERE RZS_=F=A=+—H  E&H
REERRARRE OB ERFIR LT D AIK) /758,678,000 7T &
118,042,000 T * KB ERLAFRAME N ERKRIENEEEHRREE
7 A147118,502,0007% 7T 80,108,000 TE st A ESBH4RE M EMHR
E )

The impairment loss on interest-bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing included in the Group’s consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$44,869,000 and HK$2,897,000 respectively.

BEREEE T - A=+ BLFENGERERAREERRHF
R A A W ET BRI /OB E &5 18 70 Il 40 /544,869,00078 7T % 2,897,00078

JT ©

The allowance for credit loss of interest-bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing represents the management’s best estimates at
the end of the reporting period of expected credit losses under Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9: Financial Instruments’ Expected
Credit Loss model.
REERLARBMENGFERKFENEEBRRBIEEEERETAM
BREENFEN  ¢RTIAEBCEEFEREAUEREEFEBNREHR
B R EE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

Our audit procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment of
interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing included:
BMEHERBEYRBEENRARBENTEE
YRR RER M BERREFBERE

o Understanding and evaluating the
credit control procedures performed
by management, including its
procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on
expected credit losses allowance of
receivables;

o TRNRIEEREBRTNEEENRER -
BRETHEERERERFIENE T
AEERFENTEREEERREE

o Testing on a sample basis, the
accuracy of ageing profile of the
receivables by checking to the
underlying agreements;

o FEidwEREGZ  UaEA O E
WK IR R e 2 BRI

o Testing on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of the
receivables against bank receipts;

. DA 75 308 AR SR 17 U i3 B B e M k0B
REFRERNERER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED HRENEE-#&

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit’-ﬁ\y
matter N

BRELER EFMARERTEERRERSE

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing - Continued

REERRfFEBEN EBRBFIENREN® - &

Receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. The expected credit loss rates are determined based on
historical credit losses experienced and are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

R FIRR BB R ERR - RMEERAXDIRBEMEENELEE
BEET  SRABURMYETFEEEREFIERIOERRAELEEH -

We consider impairment assessment on interest-bearing receivables
from loans and margin financing as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the significant
estimates and judgement involved in determining the expected credit
losses allowance on the interest-bearing receivables from loans and
margin financing.
RRREERRARBENTSRKFENRENGEEaHBERRTE
BEZ BEEFARBERRARAEN EERERENRREEHER
P RERMGE LA RABKEERRAFRRE NS RKFIRNR
EFERARREZEE -

Evaluating management’s assessment
of the internal credit rating of the
interest-bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing by reference
to past due status, past collection
history and financial condition of the
borrowers;
AEEREHREERRFRRE M
BRERKFIENABEETR T T5
SZRBMRRN - BERDZERERA
2B

Understanding management’s basis
and judgement in determining credit
loss allowance on interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin
financing at 31 March 2023, including
the identification of credit-impaired
receivables, estimated loss rates
applied to each customer, collaterals
pledged to the Group; and
TREBENET _T_==A=1+—
AzRBERRAFRERME N BRER
ERNEEEERERRBOEERAT -
BEBNEREERE 2 EBKHE &
ARBUEFZfhtBRE - EH T
EEEZEAm &

Evaluating the disclosures regarding
the impairment assessment of
interest-bearing receivables from
loans and margin financing in the
consolidated financial statements.
AEEEMBRRTEBRE ERKT
RRLE 65 B MR IB R E R k2 48
RE
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BRELER

Valuation of investment properties

REMRMLE

As disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, at
31 March 2023, investment properties, which were stated at fair value,
amounted to approximately HK$1,697,000,000.
HNRERBREMFI6THEE  RZEZ=F=A=1+—H BAKE
51| BR 6948 & ¥ % 41 &%1,697,000,00078 7T

Net increase in fair value of investment properties of approximately
HK$74,900,000 was recognised in the Group's consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2028.
REVMENRREFNELNT4900,0008 TEERAEEBRE_T =4
SRA=T-BLEFENGERGERTER -

The management performed valuations on the fair value of investment
properties with the assistance from an independent professional valuer.
EEEEBUERMLEMNOEN THRENENDAEET TAHE-

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs used in the valuations
are disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. The
valuations are dependent on certain key inputs that require significant
management judgements and estimates, which involves certain
estimates of market conditions and assumptions made on the
investment properties including comparable market transactions with
adjustments to reflect different locations or conditions, and comparable
market rents and capitalisation rate.

PR MERMMEZRAZBFBEHNGE M BHRERMT16 - HEK
BETEZEGAME ZEEABTEEABRGET  PRETHEMRRH
R MERENENRR  ERATLEBRMISERS I AR R 2
SR ARALEBETISHEERER L E -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the judgements involved
BFARRRENEHERBRERFIE  RANKRENFERBRGAVBR
KTPENSBEEX - BEETRBXMMER ASHE Y R -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

BMRENEE - &

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EFNMARERTEERRERSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

AMEREEBHREANEGENRFERE

o With the assistance of our independent
professional valuer, assessing the
methodology applied by management
in its valuation of investment properties
with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

o EHRMBANBLZXHEMORST -
SRETEFTEUNER  FHEEE
EREMEGERRBOTE,

° Evaluating the experience,
competence, objectivity and
independence of the independent
professional valuer engaged by the
management to perform the valuation
of the investment properties;

. AEEREERFNBELEXMEMRER
BMRETRENKR 60 THUEM
B

o Evaluating the experience,
competence, objectivity and
independence of the independent
professional valuer engaged by us;

o AT EPIHE A A0 B S R AT A A A 45 B -
A BEBREAB I,



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS - CONTINUED

Key audit matter

BRELEE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for
the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

B MY &% B OB R F

HRENER-&

matter

EROMRERTREERERSRA

o Assessing the reasonableness of the
key inputs used in the valuation of
investment properties at year end,
including the residential selling price,
estimated total construction cost
to complete, expected developer
profit margin, market rents, market
unit rate of individual, capitalisation
rate, discount rate and entity specific
information on a sample basis.
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o RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
aWITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

*~ STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

92 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

EERERERGAUBHRRZER

EZRERBEREQIMASRM 2B ENHKR
HEARBERAGIZBEACHRHEEMA
RZEABBHRER  UARBFESTARVEZR
RS NRRERGEEPBERERE M FEHAR
HAFRERMEH 2 ERER -

REEEEUBRERE  EFRENE B5E
ZEBRERN  YEERBATREEREL
EEMCER URERFELERE AR
RIAEZEER BEXREBFRAELEL  H5
BHMEBERIBRTR -

EREREEE BREZUMBHIRE-

I

REMBGEUBBRRELZER

BMOBR RSV BRREBRTIARAE
ARRFARRMEBNEANERRAREE
BRE YRRHEZEBGEXA BT (NBE
BRIHABERMAELNGEMBRE Ktz
WIEFEFNEAMEN - AERREZSKFZR
& ETERERRBBEMNENETZET
EX-EABRRAFAERAREN - #RRA
AIARBRF A REIE - WA ERMERRER
ERA Y EBRAPBRRERERBEEHH
WK FEH B R TE - B B0 S8R BRI AT 4%
BRIEEK -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

REMBGEUBRRELCEE-A
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URITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters, that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Lam Chik Tong
Practising Certificate Number: P05612

8/F, Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

23 June 2023

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
W = X

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

= a

2023
—EC-=fF ===
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ik FET £
Revenue s 114,961 127,011
Other revenue H it U &5 1,804 542
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEBEEAETZ
loss model, net of reversal REEE  MRED 8 (47,766) (16,744)
Net increase in fair value of REMERIREZ
investment properties SHIG(E 16 74,900 21,000
Administrative and other B REMEERT
operating expenses (25,809) (26,409)
Finance costs & AR 9 (6,672) (3,695)
Share of results of an associate BB E N R 225 (4,312) (4,255)
Profit before taxation R 754 Al v ) 10 (107,106) 97,450
Income tax expenses PrF MR < 13 (6,870) (10,457)
Profit for the year F N4 A 100,236 86,993
Profit for the year attributable to: U TATEEFEAR
Owners of the Company KAFEEB A 100,310 87,036
Non-controlling interests IR (74) (43)
100,236 86,993
Proposed final dividend Bk R BB B 14 53,646 53,646
Earnings per share BRIER 12
Basic (HK cents) BEARCGE) 3.7 3.2
Diluted (HK cents) #5E (B AL) N/A ~iE M N/A NER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
/= a8 &2 H B & %
For the year ended 31 March 2023 8% R " =4=H=+—H L4
2023 2022
—E-= —F—-
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FTAT

Profit for the year FEREA 100,236 86,993
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREMER (FX) W

for the year, net of tax: (B FE) :
Item that may be reclassified B EEN R Em s HE -

subsequently to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive (expense) B E N Emem () ke

income of an associate, net of (HEEmEHEEE)

related income tax (4,301) 2,538
Total comprehensive income FR2ERREE

for the year 95,935 89,531
Total comprehensive income KTFATEEEAZERE (FAX)

(expenses) attributable to: Y

Owners of the Company ZINNCIEZZ SN 96,009 89,574

Non-controlling interests RS (74) (43)

95,935 89,531

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= 8 B B R

2023
—E-=F —E-—F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
i3 FE FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment vy EI Y 15 1,354 941
Investment properties REME 16 1,697,000 1,622,100
Intangible assets | EE 17 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate A RN Ea 18 49,522 58,135
Trade receivables 2 5 EWGRIA 19 87,381 89,251
Other assets HihEE 20 3,400 3,400
Deferred tax assets EEFITHE E 23 3,370 2,892
1,844,067 1,778,759
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Properties held for development R E 21 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, 25 & EH RO
deposits and prepayments e RENHKE 19 738,527 941,657
Tax recoverable A] Y [B] ¢ 51 2,174 1,162
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeZ2EEY 22 459,327 568,386
1,203,039 1,514,216
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EH M e 2R 27 76,312 124,668
Borrowings B 24 139,336 234,625
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BA S A L 2008 25 89 1,172
Amount due to the ultimate & BR AR HR BRI B F0IB
holding company 26 70,229 213,384
Provision for taxation iR s - 625
285,966 574,474
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 917,073 939,742
NET ASSETS EERE 2,761,140 2,718,501
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= Pas
i A

M % iR

T

As at 31 March 2023 PR _=4£=H=1+—H

2023 2022
=SS -
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B 5E FEx FHT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRGHE

Share capital [N 28 26,824 26,824
Reserves s 2,735,645 2,692,932

Equity attributable to owners KRB AEGER
of the Company 2,762,469 2,719,756
Non-controlling interests FE1E R 2 (1,329) (1,255)
TOTAL EQUITY EmEE 2,761,140 2,718,501

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 199 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
BER
Executive Director

HITEFE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

FBE1VANGAMBHRRCBETEN_F
TEHERAST=RYLAERERBEL KA TIE

ERERRF

Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
BER
Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
2§ X

i

PAN
=)

¥ #&®

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE _-F "=

Attributable to owners of the Company

FE=A=1H L4

RORERAEL
Non-
Share Share  Contributed Other Translation ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
ke ROEE EHER  HpRF  EXEE  REEH  BRRR B FEREE  BEEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TER ThR T TER ThR ThR T TER ThR ThR
At 1 April 2021 WoE--%

A—H 26,824 304,284 8,515 = (2,262) 2,292,821 26,823 2,657,005 (1212) 2,655,793
Profit (loss) for the year Eniat (58 = - - - - 87,036 - 87,036 (43 86,993

Other comprehensive income REEEMEANEG

for the year - - - - 2,538 - - 2,538 - 2,538
Total comprehensive income En2ENE(RY)

(expense) for the year ek - - - - 2,538 87,036 - 89,574 (43) 89,531
Dividend paid BERRE - - - - - - (6823  (26,8%) - (268%)
Proposed final dividend REREBRS - - - - - (53,646) 53,646 - - -
At 31 March 2022 S

=A=1-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 - 216 2,326,211 53,646 2,719,756 (1,255) 2,718,501
Profit (loss) for the year ERigf (58) = = - - - 100,310 - 100,310 (74) 100236
Other comprehensive expense ~ AEEEMREHR

for the year - - - - (4,301) - - (4,301) - (4,301)
Total comprehensive (expense) M2 (%)l

income for the year k] - - - - (4,301) 100,310 - 96,009 (74) 95,935
Other reserves it - - - 350 - - - 350 - 350
Dividend paid EfRE - - - - - - (3646)  (53646) - (53646)
Proposed final dividend REREBRS - - - - - (53,646) 53,646 - - -
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZE

=A=1-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 350 (4,025) 2,372,875 53,646 2,762,469 (1,329) 2,761,140
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= a B 2 R B *

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

2023 2022
- = —ZE==
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTHERT TR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before taxation R %3 A1 e A 107,106 97,450
Adjustments for: Bt T3 & IEELFHE
Finance costs BE KA 6,672 3,695
Depreciation on property, WE - HBEREE
plant and equipment 115 80
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE #ERFZHEZ
equipment & (510) -
Impairment losses under expected credit EHEEEEEXIET 2
loss model, net of reversal EEE - MEREE 47,766 16,744
Net increase in fair value of investment KREWMER B2 FEE
properties (74,900) (21,000)
Others HAh 350 -
Share of results of an associate FEAGEE = R Rl 2 EE 4,312 4,255
Other revenue H Ath o % (2) -
Operating cash flows before working REtEEESE A
capital changes ZEERERE 90,909 101,224
Decrease (increase) in trade and other BN HMEWFIE e &k
receivables, deposits and prepayments TERRIE 2R (35 n) 157,234 (70,480)
Decrease in trust and segregated accounts SRS HEEFA&FEE
included in bank balances RERTTEE R 2R D 49,952 220,839
Increase (decrease) in unsecured 45 4 4 L A 15 SR 2 38 A0
other borrowing (k) 621 (4,724)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due to FE T REEE A 3008 2 R
related parties (12 40) (1,083) 908
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & E b B 5KI8 208 (48,660) (221,304)
Cash generated from operations REEBEEZRE 248,973 26,463
Interest paid for other borrowing B E At 8 3R & (25) (121)
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EAFEH (8,983) (11,848)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZBEL RS FE 239,965 14,494

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #E R =4 =H =+~ H IL4ESE

m B &

—2——¢£

2023
—E=-=
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TER FHBT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREED
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME KB EREZWE
equipment 510 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERRE (528) (82)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBEAZESFE (18) (82)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Dividend paid ERKRE (53,646) (26,823)
(Decrease) increase in amount due to the FER BARIER A RIRIBZ
ultimate holding company (Rk4>) 40 (143,155) 13,022
Interest paid for bank borrowings B R1T 5 5 F) 8 (6,343) (8,574)
Repayment of borrowings BEE® (95,910) (24,004)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHEAZRSFE (299,054) (41,379)
NET DECREASE IN CASH ReRAEZEBYZFRD
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (59,107) (26,967)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FOzRERRE2EEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 464,551 491,518
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZAESREEZZEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 405,444 464,551
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

GENERAL INFORMATION

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2" Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held a direct
interest in 1,992,721,496 (2022: 1,992,721,496) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2022: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. lts
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, properties investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to Hong Kong  Property, Plant, and Equipment —
Accounting Standards Proceeds before Intended Use
(“HKAS”) 16
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference
to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 January 2022.
The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the "Conceptual
Framework") instead of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October
2010), add a requirement that, for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination and add an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

8 B B ® R KM OE R

BREETEBMEREER ((HE]
BIEER )

FEERHERNEBTEEHBREREA

RAEE  AEECERARAREES
MAg((BEEeAMAE]) BRINAE
B-Z-__SNA-HHRKBZFEHER
BlIAEMZ THRERI BB REEA -
NREE R B]RE

BEARMBGHREEA
F35 (BRI )

EREEN(ELE ¥ HEMR
SRR F16% B ERERE

BaiER 2 Rt

(1BETA) A Z FT{8 508
BB G EAEITR EBRUEEHN-ET
(BEIA) BRI B A
BRMBREEL BEMBRSEL
(BFTA) 20184 220204
2 EELE

FRR TN RAFERERAEE]EEN
BHREENTEHAKEALAFERBESF
ENGEUBRARRERIEEHEE
HBEREMBEORBEREAEATE -

B Z B A5 EERE37 (55T K) #E2
EFEZ TP ZE
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Aol A BB EMEBAHERZEER] - &
HER Rk s e S E P 4=
Ay e - 7 5| 3201846 A 48 ffi /920184
HBEREH2EE ((BSER]) iR -
BRBER 225 HRFEFRRRM (B
2010108 M 0 [ 2010F B B3R &
EEIBR)  AM—IBRE  REBEHE
RISE375 A A ABERAAEERE
B(EEVBREREZE ) RBFE21R
HEGBEANRSREMESANS - WE
FIEARB e EREI7HR LA S (B
BREREZES) RBFEIRMIEBSIE
BUHANERERAHPAENARE:
KANM—TEREEER BB Te®R
R—IBEBEHPRKENSEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year — Continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged as at the date of initial application, 1 January 2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& B B | xR KM A

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with Covenants
(2022)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transactions!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) —
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months; and

(iiy if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’'s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognizes the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(2022) (“the 2022 Amendments”)

The 2022 Amendments modify the requirements introduced by the
amendments to HKAS 1 issued in 2020, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current (“the 2020 Amendment”) on how an
entity classifies debt and other financial liabilities with covenants
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that only
covenants with which the entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only
after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at
the end of the reporting period.

The amendments also specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity classify
liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the
entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The amendments also defer the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. The amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an
entity applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the
2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) —
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group'’s future consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) -
CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
- Continued

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 3.1

RAGEUBR EERERSTHE

FREAHBRR RS

110

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decision
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosure required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial assets that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B B B R K &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
- Continued
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

- Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within level 1, that are observable
for the asset and liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

- Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
and liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Significant accounting policies — Continued

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are recognised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets — Continued
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Significant accounting policies — Continued

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets — Continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associates’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Investment in associates — Continued
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ % =4 =H =+—H L4

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Investment in associates — Continued
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Changes in the Group'’s interest in associates

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

a8

3. BARSHMBEREERENEHHGR

N
- &

3.2

8 B % & K K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

EXEHEEK-#F

ETRMIA
WHEERMGRERSEEERS
TREANKGXZAINNTEER - A
ARBEECHMBEERR S AERLR
BUHWER - EREEREERTERT
ZRPIHERRERRARNEERN
HBEERER -

WHEERMBGRENSRDAET
EBREARBEEMBHREEAS
155 [ EPaAMa I NEHERRE
FANELNE ZRUFRN) - Bl
BRETHBEERMBAG (RS
RENBREIR ((BALERRS
BRIRR ) < A ES M B RERIN)
MERELZRHHARE RERE
AAMBEERMBERE (WER) 2
ARERBEAAENR - REAR
ERBREIRZMBEEXHBA
EME WBERELZRSKAA
RME R RIER -

BRMEEHEMBEERHBA
EMHEEXA RN BEARES T8
WARFBERAZMITE - BRFIXRZ
ERBEESHM KGR BENEFFHR
BRI (WER) A - i h T RRR
U ENR (BEERERM XA
RE D MR AR EER R
BT RPUAREME ERITR) £
BERER S RAK N REEME
FARY R

BAASEAREFGRENFSUWA
25/

Annual Report 2023 4£#

119



= a B B | x K
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STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RESRSUBRzEERS XS

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued 32 BABHBE-£
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Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets — Continued

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, deposit, other assets and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. BARSHMBREEREANEHHGR

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - - &
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued 32 BABHBE-£
Financial instruments — Continued TRIE-&
Financial assets — Continued HBEE-&
Impairment of financial assets — Continued BBEEEZHE - &
()  Significant increase in credit risk — Continued (iy EERBAREEN-£Z
In particular, the following information is taken into BEeEms T EEERRES
account when assessing whether credit risk has j(fp’ EMEZEEUATER :
increased significantly:
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in o SRMIAMIE(IWE)L
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or NEEEFREE B
internal credit rating; B gRERL
e significant deterioration in external market o FERBHNIINITZER
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase BB EEﬂ: MEERE
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices BEBEANGEEEORRE
for the debtor; YN
e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, o EB HMBILEMAE
financial or economic conditions that are expected 48 o TR R B A S FI £
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s B BEREBARITE
ability to meet its debt obligations; BEERAE N KIE TR
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in s BEBANKEXEERL
the operating results of the debtor; B ERESL
e an actual or expected significant adverse change s BEBAMEE KB
in the regulatory, economic, or technological MRBEER KRS EE
environment of the debtor that results in a EANHEE  BRET
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet EISEERIRE D RIE TR o
its debt obligations.
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, N LFERER - AEER
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased TEERBRA NN A HBEA
significantly since initial recognition when contractual 0B KE NIEIEHN - BRIEAEHE
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the BEAEEBEAZRFNEMEZRL
Group has reasonable and supportable information that JELOI -
demonstrates otherwise.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of AEBEHEERNEER
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a BB RIR IS INE 7 A R 22 E’Jﬁ
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as MM WERELEE - R
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of ZIEERERIBR AR RIEE
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the [ R m o

amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL - Continued

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception for trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

3. mH

- &

3.2

REMBH2EEREXS RIS

REFHBEK -4&
ERMIR-&

HBEEE-&
RIUBRYEEE
EEHEERSARZANENER
B SBERMBEENRSYEEER
BREFTIT ™ 2 A E D B B B i
BYR—BRE& AKEASQKR LA
RAAMGEE - MAKELEER
IRBHEBENEAT DR LD
W THRERGCEREE ~5E
BAENEENREED  YREA
REAXNOFERREREE - WA
SERBCERVBEERARENE
REb7 BB & B3 - Bl A 5 B 4 48 e
RUBEE R IRH R AE
FREREEFER -

R ER BB HR A B2 HBE
ER FREECRABRCRKE
BRERMcZ8  eNBaikhig

7
o °

A EREN
SH A EH
5 Rl TADREA DR 2 A
ARUHABRRS T FEHH
BB E ER S -

#EnTA
BEIADEREENNRERER
%@Zﬁé¢%ﬁﬂ%%§ZEﬂA
H o AREBETzER TAZBKR
FIBRENREREBTRAAR -

/

Annual Report 2023 4£#

127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B ® x M =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MEGAUBBRIEERBEASHHERE

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - - &
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued 32 BABHEBE-#&

128

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity — Continued

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
borrowings, amounts due to related parties and amount due
to the ultimate holding company are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Properties held for development
Properties held for development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or
by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable to
such properties.

Properties held for development included in the current
assets are expected to be realised, or is intended for sales
upon completion of development.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Taxation - Continued
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Taxation — Continued
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Significant accounting policies — Continued

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Revenue from contracts with customers — Continued
Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued

Leases — Continued
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease office that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Leases — Continued
The Group as a lessor — Continued
Lease modification — Continued
For rent concession under which the Group legally releases
the lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified
lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due, the Group accounts for the portions which
have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e.
the lease payments which are contractually due but not paid)
by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements under
HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised
(i.e. the lease payments which are not yet contractually due)
as at the effective date of modification.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Significant accounting policies — Continued

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other revenue”.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Cash and cash equivalents — Continued
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’ s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part of
cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no
longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restrictions
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 22.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

3. »~BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -

CONTINUED

3.2 Significant accounting policies — Continued
Foreign currencies — Continued
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of “Translation reserve” (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The Directors have not come across any significant areas where
critical judgments are involved in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income tax in Macau. Judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation and the timing of payment of the related
taxations. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
to be probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key
source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

Pas
=

M B O® R M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — Continued

(b) Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in Note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and
social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of
change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in
international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy
direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group's investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated income statement.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the
risks of change in macroeconomic environment through
performing sensitivity analysis in relating to the Group'’s
investment properties.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties is HK$1,697,000,000 (2022:
HK$1,622,100,000).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES

OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Key sources of estimation uncertainty — Continued

(c) Provision of ECL for interest bearing receivables from loan
and margin financing
The Group makes impairment loss based on an assessment
of the recoverability of interest bearing receivables from loan
and margin financing. In determining whether impairment loss
on receivables is required, the Group takes into consideration
the current creditworthiness, the past collection history, age
status and likelihood of collection. Allowance for credit losses
is only made for receivables that are unlikely to be collected
and is recognised on the difference between the estimated
future cash flow expected to receive discounted using the
original effective interest rate and its carrying amount. If the
financial conditions of customers or debtors of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s interest bearing
receivables from loan and margin financing are disclosed in
Note 30(b)(i).

4.

& B B | xR KM A

ERETHER G T RERRNES

KRR - &

et P REMNEERER - &

(c) KEEHRFRHBEZ: EEYNE
WEHEEEERE
AEERBHERRIARREZFE =
JE W3R IR 2 AT YR (3 14 RY M 4F OB
BB REERERAHBERESL
BEFEE AKEZEEMNEES
B BERBIES - BRI KD
HBEZARN - FEERBREELER
W BRI BT B R B S AR L - 3 3R AR A
RERARREIR 2 ] WIS FT R
REGREBEKFEER 2 ZE TN

B HAREREPRERHA IR
MR BAE - BEEE KL N IR RIZA
fEHEBIMNESE -

RHEEERRBYE G EDHHX -
FREMEERRERAKRERBEN
EARBE 2 B RE RN ERHR
B #£30(b) (i) # 55 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B ® x M =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

o REVENUE 5. W&
-Q;& (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers () BEFENREHA
2023 2022
—EBE=F —E-—
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Types of goods or services PR RN ER
Broking &a
Commission and brokerage income BrgzBEehELAe
from securities broking WA 4,392 6,522
Commission and brokerage income HELL s Re k&L Be
from futures broking WA 526 335
Management and handling fees BREFEE 970 1,483
5,888 8,340
Corporate finance TERE
Commission for subscribing new shares — REZHIRE S - 4
Placement and underwriting commission B &M BHEFHE - 1,886
Advisory fee HAE 152 1,286
152 3,176
Assets management BEEE
Investment management fee KEERE 1,584 1,735
Precious metal trading E¢BEE
Services fee in relation to precious EBESBZIREE
metal 493 428
Total revenue from contracts with EFEHBNE
customers 8,117 13,679
Timing of revenue recognition W 8 T 2 B P 1
At a point in time RE—KZ 8,117 13,679
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

II\I_\ % ;ﬁ\j

REVENUE - CONTINUED 5. W& -#&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers () BEFEHWRPM-Z
— Continued
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue of contracts TN EEEHONGEEHE— I HE
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment 27
information:
2023 2022
—E-=F — -
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Broking g 5,888 8,340
Corporate finance PERBE 152 3,176
Assets management EEEE 1,584 1,735
Precious metal trading ESBEE 493 428
Revenue from contracts with customers & F & &z 8,117 13,679
Properties investment FEHERE
Leases HeE 30,969 28,757
Financing 8%
Interest under effective interest method EBRFEETHHE
- Margin clients —-HEREP 5,698 8,646
— Money lending —EFmE 63,127 73,014
- Financial institutions and others — SRR R E A 2R 7,050 2915
75,875 84,575
Total revenue FllE 114,961 127,011

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Provision of trading services

The Group provides broking and dealing services for
securities, futures, options contracts and precious metal.
Commission income, brokerage income and service fee is
recognised at a point in time on the execution date of the
trades at a certain percentage of the transaction value of
the trades executed. Management and handling income is
recognised when the transaction is executed and service is
completed.

(i) BEFEHNZEBRER

BHRXER%

AEEAES HEREREHKRE
CRRELBERZIRG - FBe &
RARMARREEGEIHHITH
HOXEARBEERAATRINZS
BEN-—TEALBER ERERT
BEWARER SHHITHIRS T
HER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B ® x M =

(i)

(iii)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

REVENUE - CONTINUED

Performance obligations for contracts with customers—
Continued

Provision of assets management and advisory services

The Group provides asset management and advisory services
to customers. The Group recognise the revenue at a point
in time when the services are rendered in accordance with
contract terms. Asset management fee income is charged at
a fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the
managed accounts under management of the Group.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

All revenue contracts are for the period of one year or less. As
permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS

(i)

Reportable operating segments

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

Reportable operating segments are as follows:

(iii) 2 H

Tk
i

BREEEEREBEE
AEERARPREEEEE RERR
% o REEIRA KRR AR A
B RN W - BEERBRAERAN
SEEEEMEERRAEERE B
AVABIE B 7 H YR

ERFARNZBTEAEENX
ZE®%
ARZANOBRA—FHUT
RIBEEEP GRS LN EHEHAA
o OREERERBTAANNRSE
B EIE -

B8

2HREE D
EX(MX2LerRE ((TELE
REE]D)  2WMARERD B LA

DHRAZEHEPRARMN IR
2 BN RBEE - WH/\@‘M@
DEAER A BN 2 HEEDE -

REBEMHEREELS
AREEZ2H BT -

(o]
sl}
ED nul
ok

Broking Securities brokerage and futures brokerage

Financing Securities margin financing and money lending

B % EHRARRERERRE

Corporate finance Corporate finance advisory, placing and underwriting

TPERE CRRERER EEREH

Assets management Assets management for listed and unlisted companies and high net worth
individuals

EEER RETRFELTARARGEEFELARIFEEER

Properties investment Property rental, management and related business

FHERE FiEME BB REEER

Precious metal trading
ETEEER
Investment holding
KREER

Precious metal trading
ETEEER
Share investment

B RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 o

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - CONTINUED
Reportable operating segments — Continued

(i)

An analysis of segment revenue and results of the Group on AEERZEEHE HRER
these reportable operating segments for the years ended 31 E_=Fr-_FT_C =
March 2023 and 2022 is as follows: LHEEzDHREREESTILT
2023 2022
—E_-= =EE= =
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTExT TR
Segment revenue palilg
Broking &a 5,888 8,340
Financing B 7% 75,875 84,575
Corporate finance TERE 152 3,176
Assets management BEER 1,584 1,735
Properties investment FEHERE 30,969 28,757
Precious metal trading ESEBEE 493 428
114,961 127,011
2023 2022
—E-=fF g
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Segment results D EEE
Broking K (4,591) (2,809)
Financing B 75 11,420 54,598
Corporate finance PERBME 132 3,120
Assets management BEERE 505 659
Properties investment EERE 27,473 24,967
Precious metal trading BE¢EBEE (147) (343)
34,792 80,192
Net increase in fair value of investment REMEAABEZFEE
properties 74,900 21,000
Other revenue H b zs 1,726 513
Share of results of an associate ey RN A - (4,312) (4,255)
Profit before taxation BR 75t At A 107,106 97,450

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note
3. Segment results represents the profit earned by (loss from)
each segment without allocation of certain other revenue,
net increase in fair value of investment properties and share
of results of an associate. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

BB ) B & 5T IR AR B SRS PTI 2 A
SESHBRER - D BEEESD
BARBR @M (REZER) - T8
BAETEMYS REVELAAELZ
FREREBEBERNRZEE W
AIBREARELRARDEER
ERHERBRZ A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a B % &% & B =

=}
For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

AN

OPERATING SEGMENTS - CONTINUED 6. ZEENW-4&
(i) Reportable operating segments — Continued () EREBEIH-£F
An analysis of segment assets and liabilities of the Group on AEERZEEREENTN_Z
these reportable operating segments as at 31 March 2023 —=ER-E-__F=A=1+—82
and 2022 is as follows: DHEERBESMET :
Segment Unallocated
assets/liabilities Interests in an associate  corporate assets/liabilities Consolidated
AER/BE REE0F2EE THRLEEE /86 &a
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—“®-=f C-E--% C-E-cfE C-Z--fF CZB-=E C-E--%f CECSE CZEZCoCE
HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000
T TR TR TR ThR TR ThR TR
Assets BE
Biaking g3 109834 157265 - . - - 109834 157,265
Financing 5% 3703 939705 - = - ST 939705
Assets management BEER 2,290 1,801 = - - - 2,290 1801
Properties investment EHERE 1,748,368 1635022 49,522 58,135 - - 1,797,890 1693157
Precious metal trading E¢BEE 269,825 367,931 - - - - 269,825 367,931
Investment holding REBR 132011 132011 - - = SR 132011
Inter-segment elimination AREEH (2,007) (312) - - - - (2,007) (3,152)
Unallocated KR - = - - 5,560 4,257 5,560 4,257
Consalidated A 2992024 3230583 49,522 58,135 5,560 4057 3047106 3292975
Liabilities &ff
Broking ) 54,078 105,013 - = - = 54,078 105,013
Financing 9% 5717 6,305 - = - = 5717 6,905
Assets management BEER 54 54 - - - - 54 54
Properties investment EHERE 77,015 219,394 = - - - 77,015 219,394
Precious metal trading EEEEE 8,510 7,825 > - - - 8,510 782
Investment holding REZR 73 73 - - - - 73 73
Inter-segment elimination P EEHEH (2,007) (3,152) - - - - (2,007) (3,152)
Unallocated AR = - = = 142,526 238,462 142,526 238,462
Consolidated A 143,440 336,012 - = 142,526 238,462 285,966 574474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M o Hm R K O

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

OPERATING SEGMENTS - CONTINUED
(i) Reportable operating segments — Continued

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

e All assets are allocated to operating segments other

than certain corporate assets for central administrative

purpose; and

e All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other

than borrowings and certain other payables.

= a

= EDHzEHEER
il
s MEBEETNSIRZEZENH (E -
HRTHAGECETREEER
o) R
s FMERENIEZZEHH(E
RRETEMERRIEBRN) ©

Impairment loss under
expected credit loss

Capital expenditure Depreciation model, net of reversal Finance cost
BHEEFREAET
BARX ik WEEE  NEEE HENK
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECCE -“E-CF ZECCE -E-CF ZECCE —E-CF ZECCE O ZSoCF
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$ 000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn AL TiEn AL TiEn AL Tin AL
Other segment information ~ E#7E&#

Broking S 65 49 47 50 = - = -
Financing EIpS 463 3 H 1 47,766 16,744 = -
Assets management BEER - - 1 1 - - - -
Properties investment FHERE - - 20 2 - = = =
Precious metal trading REEEE - - 4 4 - - 25 121
Unallocated LY - - 2 2 - - 6,647 3574
Consolidated ey 528 82 115 80 47,766 16,744 6,672 3,695
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

OPERATING SEGMENTS - CONTINUED 6.
(ii) Geographical information
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The
Group’s administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical market and
analysis of non-current assets by the geographical location in
which assets are located other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EBAY - &

(i)

& & H
ARBZEETRUNER BFR
REARAMB((HE]) - XEEZ
TBRARBBET -

TERERAEERBRM IS IR
PRI RIEZEEMELE 2 ¢
RBEESN (SR ITARELTH A
BERI) °

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENBEE 2 Wz FRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-= —EF-= —E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTART FAT FET FHBT
Hong Kong BB 81,204 96,611 2,894 2,461
Macau RS 33,757 30,400 1,697,500 1,622,620
The PRC Fh - - 49,522 58,135
114,961 127,011 1,749,916 1,683,216

(iii) Information about major customers
The revenue from customers individually contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group for the respective
reporting periods are as follow:

(i) TBXFEH

RHBEHN E-FFURAAEE
BUER10% A EMT

2023 2022
—EC=E B fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAL
Contributed from financing segment REFBEDE
Customer A ZEA 13,668 16,537
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER REVENUE

& B B | xR KM A

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

2023 2022 g -

—E-=fF B4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - Hes KR 2 W
equipment 510 -
Exchange gain BEE i Wi 4 72
Government grants (Note) BUSHED (FisE) 775 120
Sundry income HIEUMA 478 350
1,804 542

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government
grants of HK$775,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies, related to
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund provided by
the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised government
grants of HK$120,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies, related
to the Financial Industry Recruitment Scheme for Tomorrow under the
Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the Government of HKSAR.

There was no unfulfilled condition and other contingency attached
to the receipt of subsidy.

Bt -

HZE2023F3A3IBLEEE AEEREH
COVID-19F B AT TR R BT ([ BB R BT
B ])RETEES THRH T EEBEHERER
BT #81775,0007 7T °

HZE2022F3A31BLEEE AEEREH
COVID-19&F B HAITREBFiRENEES T
B & B0 AR 7% 3 81 B (L 5T 2148 BA 1 BE R B AT 5 B
£120,000 LI & °

BUEUR R DR R AR B E A 5 40
feRfF o

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 8. MHFEFBEXNBETZREESS 1

MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL [E3E!
2023 2022

—EC=F —FT-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Impairment losses recognised on: ERRRERESE :

— interest-bearing receivables — & MR 44,869 12,536
- margin financing receivables — R EE FEWEUR 2,897 4,208
47,766 16,744

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 30(b)(i).

AR R {2 & B R HT EE30(b)(i) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCE COSTS 9. BERK
2023 2022
—EC=F B _fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET TAT
Interest on: ATIEEZFE :
— bank borrowings —RITE K 6,647 3,574
— other borrowings —Hffam 25 121
6,672 3,695
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BEBLFTEF
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging (crediting) MRS 2 GEA) T &E -
the followings:
2023 2022
—EC=F —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER TAT
Auditors’ remuneration ZERB &
— Audit service —EiT R 690 650
- Non-audit service —IEBET IR 90 -
Staff cost (including directors’ emolument EIXA(BREZH S
(Note 11)) (BfzE11))
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits —¥¢  TAREMER 14,611 15,027
— Contributions to retirement schemes —iRRFT &) 2 3K 431 444
Total staff cost 8 TR 15,042 15,471
Depreciation on property, TE-M%E BERK
plant and equipment 115 80
Expenses relating to short-term leases KEHEREER 1,120 1,120
Gross rental income from investment REWMENBES KA
properties (30,969) (28,757)
Less: Bk :
Direct operating expenses incurred for BRENEERSBANREYE
investment properties that generated R EELERX
rental income during the year 2,187 2,700
(28,782) (26,057)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 1. EEREHEEENS
REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument (a) EBERFETHAEMNE
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear, BEERETHANLRESR A EF3®
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the BVENEERTIETHAE S
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BT
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or
and Contributions performance
benefits to retirement - related
Fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
HRg¢
EREF BT
Hi28R RARGHE /%
e ENAE #3K YA H

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TiEx TEx TER TR

Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-=F

ZR=1t-HL%EE
Non-executive directors: FHTEE .
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David ERREE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat HEREELT 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: HIEE .
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BERNA - 473 21 19 513
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew gEmEs - 244 13 19 276
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REGLE - 1,456 18 61 1,535

Independent non-executive directors: BUH#HTEE:

Mr. Chan Tsun Cho, Arnold RIER L E
(appointed on 26 August 2022) (R=B==%FN\A
Z+RBZE) 30 - - - 30
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BR&ELLE
(retired on 26 August 2022) (R=F==FN\A
Z+RBEf) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Poon Kai Tik EREEE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan AOERE 50 - - - 50

250 2,173 52 9 2,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

1.1.~DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 1. EZREREEEMNES -4

REMUNERATION - CONTINUED
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument — Continued () EBRFRTBRAEME-#
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances andfor
and Contributions  performance
benefits o retirement - related
Fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
FERH KEEL
EfzR R RN R/
e EWils f3% By @&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THL THL FEL FEL
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-Z-
ZA=t-HIERE
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EERLLE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat EREET 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: HITEE:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie HER/ME = 461 20 19 500
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEREE - 269 13 19 301
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang BHELE = 1,470 18 61 1,549

Independent non-executive directors:  BUHHTEE

Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan RF&ELE 50 = = = 50

Mr. Poon Kai Tik AR L E 50 = = = 50

Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan FERAE 50 = - = 50
250 2,200 51 99 2,600

Note: B &E

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their EIERTESMERNBEERESTMIR

services rendered as Directors. TR RB ML

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their FIRTEEMEnKEREBHEER

services rendered in connection with the management of the affairs of NAREESBHMRBEMIEDL

the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above I BIFRTEEME R BEERES
were for their services rendered as Directors. iR & R B mIES o

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief FARBEESFETRASHEXRE
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the MEEAME 225 -

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a8 B % & xR K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

REMUNERATION - CONTINUED

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emolument — Continued
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss for office.

(b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
are:
For the year ended 31 March 2023, one (2022: one) of the
five highest paid individuals was executive director of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in Note 11(a).

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
four (2022: four) highest paid employees who are neither a

,ﬁwi\

EEREAEEEMS - &

(a)

(b)

EERFTETHRAEME-£&
BE_T-_—FR-ZT-__F=H
=+—BLFE AERETERNES
XAERME - ERBRIIEFMER
MEBAARE B 2 RE) S ERRERBAE

TERSHMA T 2MEFHE -

BE_T_=F=A=+t—HLIF
B maseFMALTET R (=%
“oF —B)RARARTESE - W
EZHMECHRMEI1(a)

HHME (ZE-—F : %) EEIEAR
NRAEENMIETETHRABZESH

director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: MEE 2 HMEBEmT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTAT
Basic salaries EXEe 2,611 2,599
Contribution to retirement benefits RIRGTEIME R 72 72

Discretionary bonuses and/or BIETEAL &/ Sk i AT AT

performance-related bonuses 129 125
2,812 2,796

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

TEREZEFMEATHENRS

Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands HMATHAZDT :
is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E__fF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 7%1,000,000/8 7T 4 4

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss for office.

BHE_T-_-—FR-FT-__F=H
ZS+—HLEFE  AEEIRARS
ERFMALIAEAMSE  EAR
SR E MBS MBARREE 2 B
ERBEBAHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

a B % &% & B =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$100,310,000 (2022: HK$87,036,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2022: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

No diluted earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

12.

BRIEF
BREXGFNIRERAAREAE AEN
K& B35 #49100,310,0008 L (T = =
% :87,036,000/8 L) R AFE B AT
B A%2,682,316,758 (Z T = —
2,682,316,7580%) st & °

HREE_Z-_=%=F=+—-HR=-Z
TCFE=A=t—HItWMEFEEHL EE
EEETERER ARTEZNN_-_FT—_=
ER-_TE-__E7ERHEEREH -

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 13. FIBHAX
2023 2022
—EC-=H —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TAT

Hong Kong profits tax: BAMREH

— Current year —AEE 6,711 11,154
— Under (over) provision in prior year —RIEENR () BE 637 (3)
Deferred tax (Note 23) R IE (T 5E23) (478) (694)
6,870 10,457

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which subsidiaries
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
which is qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime of Hong Kong Profit Tax, under which the first HK$2 million
of profit of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% of the assessable
profit, however, there are no assessment profit in Macau for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

AEBEREREERELLRENAEHE
Pt B8 7 B RE M % AR & P 7E R 1 O )t A
BMFEN REMERERABRE LR
ERRAKER  AEEHBHNFRSE
ERRBRIBEENEAMEHR -

BAFGHEAFEREBEE ZMFER
BE MR E16.5% (ZFZZF : 16.5%)
B BAKENETHBARATAES
FIEHOMRGFEHEFEETHEERE
EERIN GEREEEEMNE2,000,000
7 7T i F) 15 128.25% M B K A - M8 A
2,000,000/ 7t 8 i 7| Bl # 1216.5% & §t &
o

BPFTSHARIRE R RTM12%1E
MEBE—_ S _=FR_E-_—"F=F=+—
B RBP4 e R HR R o
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14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES - CONTINUED

13. FiERBx - & K
A B E 4 R4 ﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁzw‘ﬂg

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in which the Group operates

is calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the

rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Income tax expenses for the years can be reconciled to the profit

before taxation per the consolidated income statement as follows:

To BAGE Py {31 FE SR B4 035 FUAR B ABRE A%
BEERER IR -

REZFREHRE AT RBESWER R
AR RO T

2023 2022
—EC-=H —EC-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation B A& A 107,106 97,450
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of RIBFATBEERMER 2
respective tax jurisdictions A= 13,879 13,983
Tax effect of net increase in fair value of REMER B2 FEER
investment properties M2 (8,988) (2,520)
Tax effect of non-taxable income PERM WIS E (4,686) (3,891)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TEMR 2 AT MRS 2 6,041 3,558
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZBBEENT LR 2 606 230
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FERNERERTRBEEE
recognised (607) (870)
Under (over) provision in prior year NEEETRE (B%5) &E 637 (3)
Tax reduction HIEER (12) (30)
Income tax expenses e R 6,870 10,457
PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND 14, BORARERE
2023 2022
e B fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Proposed final dividend — HK2.0 cents BIRAREHRE — & R2.041L
(2022: HK2.0 cents) per share (ZZE=—F : 2.0/81l) 53,646 53,646

Note:

A proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 of
HK2.0 cents per share (2022: HK2.0 cents per share) was proposed at the
board meeting on 23 June 2023, totalling approximately HK$53,646,000
(2022: HK$53,646,000), subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

b

BE-_Z-_--A=T-HULEEENERX
HRERER20BI(ZE =245 : BR2.0/E
i) BERZZE=_=F~~A=-+=BNESEEY
ZFEZRE 854 A53,646,0008 T (ZF
Z T4 : 53,646,000 0) ' WAFARRAIRE
REERRBFAL EBE - FAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

5 ~PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥)% - WERZE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HEx# (KA -RKE
kEF &L AE e
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET THEx THET THET
Net carrying amount as RZEZ—FHA—HZ
at 1 April 2021 REFE 802 137 - 939
Additions NE - 82 - 82
Depreciation & (20) (60) - (80)
Net carrying amount as R-E-—F=A=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2022 fREHE 782 159 = 941
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H
Cost A 1,162 6,610 1,381 9,153
Accumulated depreciation ZEWE (380) (6,451) (1,381) (8,212)
Net carrying amount IREFE 782 159 - 941
Net carrying amountasat W-ZE-"FNA—HZ
1 April 2022 REFE 782 159 - 941
Additions =t - 65 463 528
Depreciation nE (20) (60) (35) (115)
Net carrying amount as at RZBE-=F=A=t+—-Hx
31 March 2023 RERE 762 164 428 1,354
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=5=Zf=+-H
Cost B 1,162 6,675 1,042 8,879
Accumulated depreciation =~ 2EITE (400) (6,511) (614) (7,525)
Net carrying amount REFE 762 164 428 1,354

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used

for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Note:

Over the remaining terms

of the leases
15% to 30%
15% to 30%

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau and Hong Kong.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including
the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments made can

be allocated reliably.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

& Ty iR K b 5t AL R A YA B AR M3
BENE BELXBEERE ZRAEEF
HEEHE RUMSARZEEFEM

T

HELHRETF

BEOR R BR

15% - 30%

a 15% - 30%

HELHRBTFUNRF REE

AKERZE

MEER (BEEAEEL ) WEMEE -7

N—FFBENREZ S E RS -

E AR X AT HY

REREHASEDENERT  ZFEBAMENH

ST AR DT A EBIIR -



16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REYW=

2023 2022
—E— e

—E=F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Fair value: NI
At 1 April REA—H 1,622,100 1,601,100
Net increase in fair value recognised in the AR EZFEECRE)
consolidated income statement ERiRA RamRER 74,900 21,000
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,697,000 1,622,100
Unrealised gain on property MEMETABTZ
valuation included in profit or loss REBR U = 74,900 21,000

The Group leases out shops and carpark under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to twenty years (2022: one to twenty years), with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by
lessees only. Certain of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee's
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The Group’s investment properties are held for rental purpose and
classified and accounted for as investment properties. The Group’s
investment properties are situated in Macau and are held under
medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with
an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,467,000,000
(2022: HK$1,386,100,000) to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 24).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out at the end of the reporting date by LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer not connected to the Group.

AEENEERER AR AR REEN
mA& HRAS - HELEVH KA
E20F (ZE-_F : 15E20F) * RHAH
AEERSTAEYEAREERESE
B - BETHRESNABMHEEKK
(fREBATEERBEET)

RRMARENNEEERBRENIEE
BMATE - MAKEY EREE LMk
SNERR - HEARNLTEEFHKEER
R/ HIABAREREREBEDEN
EEE

AKBEREVMEANLERBNORE LD
BRERNENR AEEZRENEN
RRF R AR BEARE -

AEECERETREMET —RRITE
RASEERE-—RRTRE KRR
H@BERM®EL A1,467,000,0008 T (ZF
— =% :1,386,100,000/& 7r) (FifzE24) o

ARER_F-_=ZF=-A=1+—-AK=%F
TCFZAZTHZREVMENDAE
TIREFETAEBMERAR (REXEE
TEBENBLEESERMGER) NRE
HURPTETT 2 BEREEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

+INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - CONTINUED
The Directors determine the appropriate valuation technigues and
inputs for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or

accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

16. REME-&

BAZE -

EXETAENRBENERGEAAEN

RYEZRAER  BEENEZERS &R
EReREEMRE AETHRENEN
DMAEETHE TEREBRNHRFREE

HEWRA  UeBEEHE -

Relationship of
Range unobservable
Significant Bl inputs to fair value
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2023 202 FUBRGAHESE
fiEn % EXTUBRRANE I ZRCE DRENBR
Commercial properties Income capitalisation approach
il /e WAEX L%
- shops Capitalisation rate, taking into 1.3%-3.3% 1.4%-3.4% A slight increase in the
2023: approximately account the capitalisation of capitalisation rate used
HK$1,392,900,000 potential rental income, nature would result in a significant
2022: approximately of the property, and prevailing decrease in fair value, and
HK$1,311,900,000 market condition. vice versa.
- ERER® s RERHSUAR 1.3%-3.3% 14%34%  FREACHRERLGEHDA
“BCCF: A DEUERERDR - AR R2Hh
#)1,392,900,000%
“EoCfF:
#1,311,900,000%

Monthly market rent, taking into HK$10-90 HK$9-90 A significant increase in the
account the differences in per square foot ~ per square foot  market rent used would result
location, and individual factors, and month and month in a significant increase in fair
such as frontage and size, value, and vice versa.
between the comparables and
the property.

GATSES G RBEER U BASTAR  BASTIR HFATSHELALERIALE
RagananzzBn@EiR 10-90 70 9-90ET A& RZA%

2 DIMERERRAER -

Market unit rate, taking into
account the recent transaction
prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property.

EfmfE - AR BRNIENR
AER(GIMELE HEHRES
fEibA%) -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

HK$4,371-45,853
per square foot
and month

SASTAR

HK$4,861-46,486

per square foot
and month

5ASTAR

4,371-45,85378 70 4,861-46,48675 0

A significant increase in the
market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase
in fair value, and vice versa.

FRENTEAESERNLE
R 2R



16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — CONTINUED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B O® R K

Valuation techniques

fhER %

a8

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

Range

Significant 8B
unobservable inputs 2023
EXTTEREAUE St 2

16. RENE-&

2022

- ——

N

Relationship of
unohservable
inputs to fair value
FTERGAHEE
MMENEE

- carparking

2023: approximately
HK$74,100,000

2022: approximately
HK$74,200,000

- Efi

I S
474,100,000 7

“EoCfF:
474,200,000/ 70

Capitalisation rate, taking into 1.0%-3.0%
account the capitalisation of
rental income, nature of the
property and prevailing market
conditions.

R s RESUARR
ft DEUEERERTR -

1.0%-=3.0%

Monthly market rent, taking into
account the differences in
location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size,
between the comparables and
the property.

HKS$610-5,050

BRAMGES FRAHER I SREEf
RagananzzBn@EiR  610-50508 7%
% fINEAERRER -

Market unit rate, taking into
account the recent transaction
prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property.

EimfE  # R BRNEN
RHEB(ANELE  HER
RRELRE) o
- Private Car HK$1,600,000-

hxE HKS$1,779,000
1,600,000/ 7t~
1,779,000% 1t

2.0%-2.8%

2.0%-2.8%

HK$610-5,050

per unit and month per unit and month

SAGEN
610-5,050%7C

HK$1,599,000-
HK$1,779,000
1,599,000 -
1,779,000% ¢

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate used
would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and
vice versa.

MREALL XREGEH LA
EAY RZHHA

A significant increase in the
market rent used would result
in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

ARTSEEAEEERAL
A% R

A significant increase in the
market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase
in fair value, and vice versa.

FRENTEASSER LA
BAE RZHA-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

16.-INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - CONTINUED 16. RENE-&

Relationship of
Range unobservable
Significant ] inputs to fair value
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2023 202 FUBRHAHESR
fiER%E EXTURRRANE Z5-= ZRCCF RAENEE
- Motor Cycle HK$281,000- HK$280,000
Bk HK$282,000 280,000% 7
281,000% -
282,000% ¢
Residential development  Residual approach Discount rate 5.39% per annum  5.25% per annum A slight increase in the
2023: approximately discount rate would result in
HK$230,000,000 a significant decrease in fair
2022: approximately value, and vice versa.
HK$236,000,000
FEER Hehz BRE £ 7 %5.39% FHESB% RAXREGEHNAE
It Jnls 3 KB RZIH -
#1230,000,000 7
“EoCfF:
#1236,000,000 70
Residential selling price 9,398 9,223 Aslight increase in the
(HKS$/square foot)  (HK$/square foot)  residential selling price would
result in a significant increase
in fair value and vice versa.
fFLER 9,398 9223 HZEEMEEEYLAEA
(Bn/¥5R)  (Bn/TrR) % RZF%-
Estimated total construction cost 2,128 2,041 Asignificant increase in
to complete (HK$/square foot) (HK$/square foot)  the cost would result in a
significant decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.
R IARRENTLE 2,128 2041 RARESBHDAEAR R
(Bn/THER)  (Bn/TrR) 204
Expected developer profit margin 15% on cost 15% oncost A significant increase in the
expected profit would result
in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.
REEEIEE A H15% RAM15% BRMEAEEERALE
R RZFH
The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value AREFEEIEARNLRBEBRRE=R -
hierarchy.

160 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 % 4 |8 45 B 2 +)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17.

Intangible assets represent the trading rights in the Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited which

have indefinite useful lives.

BNEE

R AEEBRAREEBRRH AR MY
AR RTERFHBERSE .

2023 2022 =
—E-=E e kE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net carrying amount REEE 2,040 2,040

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. REEQR 2R

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-_fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unlisted investment, at cost FELETRE  BRA 73,691 73,691
Share of post-acquisition losses eI R 1R (20,144) (15,832)
Exchange adjustment Pt (4,025) 276
49,522 58,135

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period

as follows:

ANRRFE R 2B EAAFER W
T

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
Particulars of principal place effective interest Principal
Name of associate issued shares of business attributable to the Group activities
SMAY
BenaEn BRITRAFE TRERBE rEEERERED L TEEHR
Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited Registered capital The PRC 30%  Property investment
(“Meiyu") RMB60,000,000
FMEHEXBRDA (TXH4)) AMEAARE hE 30% BHERE
60,000,0007T

The interest in an associate is held in trust by a director of the
Company on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group.

BENRBEA—UARRZEZFARA
SEMNBRRNEETARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

18 -INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE - CONTINUED

below:

Summarised financial information of Meiyu, adjusted for any
difference in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed

18. REE LA 2R - &
MNP BERRE (REBEGTHRZER
ERETRE VEGAMBBREEDE
ETHR)BRENOT

2023 2022

B =F B —fF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHBL

Current assets REBEE 391,784 445,382
Non-current assets FEREEE 45,989 51,433
Current liabilities mEBE (272,701) (303,030)
Equity % 165,072 193,785
Revenue Wz 35,131 5,201
Loss after tax Brii e & e (14,375) (14,183)
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hih2E (RX) fz= (14,338) 8,461
Total comprehensive expenses PHAXEE (28,713) (5,722)
Dividend received from associate AN i s - -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in Meiyu recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of Meiyu
Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interest in Meiyu

Carrying amount of the Group’s

interest in Meiyu

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

XHMEERE

Lt A 7 B R R B A B S R A AT R
RREMHOBAREE H

AEENEREREZEEHD

AREREM 2 B REE

165,072 193,785
30% 30%
49,522 58,135




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19. EFNEMERFIE e RFESHE

PREPAYMENTS

& B B | xR KM A

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

2023 2022"’5 :

—EC-=H e T GE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT

Amounts receivable arising from the
ordinary course of business of dealing
in securities and options:

— Cash clients

— The SEHK Options Clearing
House Limited

- Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited

Amounts receivable arising from the
ordinary course of business of
dealing in futures contracts:

— Clearing house

Amounts receivable arising from the
ordinary course of business of provision
of securities margin financing (Note (i)):
- Clients

Amounts receivable arising from the
ordinary course of business dealing
in precious metal:

- Clients
— The Chinese Gold and
Silver Exchange Society (“CGSE”)

Amounts receivables arising from
ordinary courses of business of
properties investment

Less: Allowance for credit loss

Trade receivables,
net of allowance for credit loss

Interest-bearing loans receivables (Note (ii))

Less: Allowance for credit loss

Loan receivables,
net of allowance for credit loss

Other receivables
Deposits
Prepayments

Analysed as:
Non-current assets
Current assets

AREBEFLIPER S

Uy FIE
- RBeRP 5,353 7,214
— BRFHEEERMAR AR
2 2
— HHEHRRGEEER AR
1,964 =
BEEBZHEANIRS
U FRIE
—HEFT 1,966 1,929
AEEBZREEFTERE
fEd R aE (BIaE())
- Bp 118,042 140,194
HEEKZESBES
JEWFRE
- ®F 626 104
- &REEF5
([£REEHH] ) 3 3
BEXK 2 BiHERE BUGRIA
2,325 1,137
\ . 130,281 150,583
B EEBEEE (80,108) (77,211)
ZHRENFE (HREEERRE)
50,173 73,372
SERUER (KsEii) 758,678 967,076
W EEBERE (118,502) (144,805)
EWER (MREEEBEE)
640,176 822,271
H fth & R 132,823 132,432
bigory 622 685
BRI FUA 2,114 2,148
825,908 1,030,908
DT A
ERBEE 87,381 89,251
MENVEETE 738,527 941,657
825,908 1,030,908

Annual Report 2023 AEH 1 63
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19.
PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED
Notes:

(i)  Margin client receivables after ECL of approximately HK$37,934,000
(2022: HK$62,983,000) are repayable on demand, bearing interest
at market rate and secured by clients’ securities listed on the Stock
Exchange with a total market value of approximately HK$161,604,000
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$211,558,000).

(i)~ The Group considers a loan to be secured when there is collateral or
credit enhancement in place. The main types of collateral and credit
enhancement obtained includes share charges over unlisted and
listed equity securities, personal guarantees, assignment of rights
and charges over properties. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amount of secured loans receivable after the ECL amounts to
approximately HK$640,176,000 (2022: HK$822,271,000).

The exposure of the Group’s loan receivables before ECL to
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are as

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REMBYRHKE  BRERANRE -

5t

() MBEHEEBEENFREEFERK
T/ #) 537,934,000 T (Z 2= —F :
62,983,000 Jr) * fE % Z 5k LA 35 F
RABERE YU-_E-_=F=F=+—
HAMERA161,604,0008L(ZE ==
% : 211,558,000 70) A B & B R B AT
ETTRE SRR o

(i) AEERBEZERBZEERYKEE
et il BEEERERER -BHEH
FTERERMEEMAEEREIELD
METREESOBRGER  BAER -
EREENERR AT -_=F=8
=t+—0 AEAEREFNEOELHE
HEE BB 4 /5640,176,0008 T (= F
— T4 822,271,000 T) °

A e TS B AR AT 2 R
BRREAHERNT -

\

=

follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Loan receivables: FEME K -
On demand mER 365,206 443,053
Within one year —FRA 303,901 419,198
In more than one year but HBA—FETBBME
not more than two years MHEIRA 42,171 21,198
In more than two years but HBAMFETBEAT
not more than five years MHEIRA 7,902 36,072
In more than five years ki ks 39,498 47 555
758,678 967,076

The Group has variable-rate loan receivables of HK$272,419,000
(2022: HK$477,934,000), which bear interest rates ranged from
Prime rate plus 1.00% p.a. to Prime rate plus 9.50% p.a. (2022:
from Prime rate minus 1.00% p.a. to Prime rate plus 6.75% p.a.).
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R EBREZFIEIN.00%ZE RKEEFEMN
9.50% (ZE-_—F : FRIXAZREBEFX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal to
contractual interest rates) on the Group’s loan receivables are as
follows:

& B B | xR KM A

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

B R EMRYIER - e RANTEE,

AEEEWNER L BEFE (RSHRANF ' :

K)HEMT
2023 2022
—EC=H —ET-=
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FiET FHBT

Effective interest rate: ERFx
Fixed-rate loan receivables EERMBER
Variable-rate loan receivables 2R RKER

The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two
working days after trade date, and of trade receivable arising from
the business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade
date.

Receivables of approximately HK$308,741,000 (2022:
HK$355,088,000) that were past due related to a number of
independent customers and were reviewed by the Directors with
ECL of approximately HK$198,610,000 made at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$222,016,000). Based on past experience, the Directors
are of the opinion that no further ECL is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable.

The Group has policy for allowance of ECL which is based on the
evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment, including the current creditworthiness,
collaterals and the past collection history of each client.

The ageing analysis of amounts receivable based on trade date
that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired are as follows:

5.50%-36.00%  5.50%-36.00%
5.25%-15.625%  4.50%-15.00%

REBHFBEEXRBAELENRE REFT
RAMETEFRUFRERNRZBEMETE
AEE REBEANRIEBRELN
EHRUFERZHH —REKER -

£ 1B 51 2 J& W 378 49308,741,000/8 7T (=
T — — 4 : 355,088,000 ) hE#E %
BABURF KEETEMERAZZERRN
TE =A==+ H{ELEHEE
B 1B 49198,610,0008 L (Z T = =& :
222,016,000 L) - BIFBATLR  EF
RE TTPBERZEERBELESRE
EpiE AAHEEREEGEVEEARE (L.
MZSEERNFER AT ZEHRE -

AEEREEHREEFRRBRBEEE T
RBWREE D RBRER AT 2 HE R EEE
A BREE-FEPROZEREE"
ERmEBERRZESL -

I 4 AE B o B A RV At AR B 2 MR SR IE (1R
BXHH) ZERATIT:

2023 2022

—EC-=F —EoF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FATT

Less than 1 month TR—{EA 48,500 72,362
1 to 3 months —Z==@A 334 323
3 months to 1 year =EARE—%F 1,339 687
50,173 73,372
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED

ECL is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

19..~TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19.

The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on due date after

ESRAMBWTIE BERANKE -
FBRER(RBEIHE)LELRACERS
BERZEEITIT :

2023 2022

—E-=F —E__fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FTAT

Current (Not past due) H (RaHs) 391,120 523,868
Less than 1 month past due BETE—EA 16,941 2,843
1 to 3 months past due BE—=={A8 2,939 5,446
3 months to 1 year past due BH=EAZE—4F 153,036 164,320
Over 1 year past due BB —F 76,140 125,794
640,176 822,271

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

are set out in Note 30(b)(i).

BRAE S L EMREMFR ZRE L FE
FH AP TES0(b)(I) ©

20. OTHER ASSETS 20. HitEE
2023 2022
—EC=E B fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER TAT
Hong Kong Securities Clearing BB REEFRE A
Company Limited
- Guarantee fund deposit - RESFER 100 100
— Admission fee - 2% 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange B FTATEERES 200 200
Reserve fund contribution to the BRFEEEERMERARZ
Stock Exchange Options RS HN
Clearing House Limited 1,500 1,500
Reserve fund contribution to the BEAHEHERRRAZ
HKFE Clearing Corporation Limited CAEART 1,500 1,500
3,400 3,400

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

21. HERRWE

2023
—E-=F T .
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Properties held for development, at cost FERRMEUKAGTE 3,011 3,011
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BERBEEZEEY
2023 2022
—EC-=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TAT
Cash at banks RITEE R
— General accounts — —&FnN 166,509 300,706
Cash in hand Be 12 6
Non-pledged short-term bank deposits with 4> FA3{E A X1 5| 8 7 £ 4K 47
original maturity less than 3 months BHRITER 238,923 163,839
405,444 464,551
Cash at banks RIT R
— Trust accounts — EFEP A 42,322 93,400
- Segregated accounts - HREEFA 1,561 435
Pledged short-term bank deposits with DR3MEAAE 2 BER
original maturity less than 3 months (Note) & B4R 1777 2k (P 3%) 10,000 10,000
459,327 568,386

Note: Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

Pledged short-term bank deposits was pledged to banks for securing
general bank facilities granted to the Group.

i . RITHESIDIBNE (ERNERRTER
FIRFE) RAFE  RITABRTIDFERR
FEEE BRI EELRENRT -

BEEMEARTEFARERITAAE

BETH—RRTHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

. 2 +~CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CONTINUED

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the group entities’ functional

22,

RERRE2EEY -
RehBeZEEYNE TEMTM%@a%“
NEERUINBEENEE

currencies:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAET TR
usD T 728 2,888
Renminbi (“RMB”) AREB(TARE]) 44 45
MOP RFT 123 19

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts

BekRe2EBYMBREUATIIINEEF

which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations and not HEBT EAREZENS R :
freely transferable:
2023 2022
—EC-=H —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Amounts denominated in RMB KAREF B2 EHE 44 45
23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 23. EEFIEEE

Provision for
expected credit
loss
BHEEEE
b
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FmWA—AH 2,198
Credited to profit or loss BBz 694
At 31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=HA=+—H 2,892
Credited to profit or loss FrAEE 478
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=%=A=+—H 3,370

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$64,486,000 (2022: HK$64,492,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
taxable profits. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

RIEBRARE - ANEEA AR HRRE
B A 2 R By B R S IS 181 4964,486,000
BIL(ZZ = — 4 : 64,492,000 7T) ° A
RAREBARRERRB AN 21BN - A
W EERRLENBEE - HEEEAE
ﬁE%ﬁmE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

24. BORROWINGS . BR
2023 2022
—E-=F B &
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Amounts shown under current liabilities ATEBYRRRENAE :
— Secured bank loan - interest-bearing — BEMBITER - F7E 138,715 234,625
- Unsecured other loan - interest-bearing ~ — ﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ\ﬁﬂgm — &2 621 =
139,336 234,625
The carrying amounts of the above FEFROEEEER—FA
borrowings are repayable within one year %E 621 -
The carrying amounts of the above HERERERERN L ER
borrowings that contain a repayable on FHEGITRRBE % )
demand clause (shown under current BAR T3 KA EER
liabilities) but repayable*:
Within one year R—FR 50,154 24,058
Within a period of more than one year R—F A EETBBRE
but not exceeding two years &) EA R A 10,701 24,448
Within a period of more than two years iNGES M= S RS
but not exceeding five years ) EARE A 35,468 76,009
For period of more than five years 838 1 5F A9 2 42,392 110,110
138,715 234,625
139,336 234,625

*

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in EHTBENEEEFREMESREETA

the loan agreements. HEE -
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to REEERZERMER (MEENE DT
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as R)ZEEWNT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
Variable-rate borrowings FENFE G 1.49%-5.36%  1.39%-3.25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

4.

BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
undrawn borrowing facilities:

24, ER-&

RBERR AEEZRARRERERED
T

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT FTAT
Variable-rate EEHIR
— expiring within one year —-R—FRNEH 329,285 233,375

Loan covenants

In respect of the bank loan with carrying amount of HK$138,715,000
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$234,625,000), the Group is required
to comply with the following financial covenants throughout the
continuance of the relevant loan and/or as long as the loan is
outstanding:

e to maintain a loan-to-value ratio at no more than 50% by
reference to the total facilities limit against the value of the
security properties

e to maintain minimum deposit in the bank

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
reporting period.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which
they relate:

EREN

B E-=FE=ZA=+—-—HEKEMEA
138,715,000/ 7T (= Z = =4 : 234,625,000
BIL)MRITERME - RMEBEERERH
MLk /SEFAEEESRE ~AEEEE
SFIA T B2 4

RERMEEENAREEE &
B ELRERER0%

25
5
o HRHEBRITEN

AEERBERNAN—BEETRELY o

{8 BT A A B T A SN B
B2 THHRE

2023 2022
—EC=H B F
US$'000 FET 80 -

Note: As at 31 March 2023, the bank borrowing of approximately
HK$138,715,000 (2022: HK$234,625,000) was secured by the
Group’s investment properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,467,000,000 (2022: HK$1,386,100,000) with related rental
proceeds (Note 16) and corporate guarantees provided by the
Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

Mzt : R=Z==F=A=+—H - #138,715,000
BIT (T = — 4 : 23462500008 70) 2 5B
17 & % A 75 &< [® BR T B 491,467,000,000
BT (2= =% :1,386,100,000/ 7T)
ZEEMERRBRSHRBR (HE16)
AARRA B AR E R D ERRERA o
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& B B | xR KM A

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

25. FEEBALTE

2023
—E-=F S
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
Amounts due to related parties e A A T 3UR
- Beneficial owner (Note (b)) — Exma A (M3FDb)) - 963
- Related companies (Note (a) and — BB AR (M (a) RMTFE(D))
Note (b)) 89 209
89 1,172
Notes: o3
a) The amounts due to related companies represents payables to the a) RENBHARZEARMFBEREEEN
UBA Group (as defined in Note 31). FHE(E&RME3) ©
b) Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and b) RERNEEALZzREREER 2ERR
repayable on demand. EHEE -
AMOUNT DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 26. ENRAERABRIE

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of

repayment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i) the settlement terms of cash clients arising from the business of
dealing in securities are two working days after trade date; and

i)  the amounts payables arising from the ordinary courses of
business of dealing in precious metals should be settled within

30 days.

b)  Other payables include approximately HK$2,555,000 (2022: b)
HK$2,850,000) which represents amounts due to minority
shareholders. The amounts due to minority shareholders are interest
free, unsecured and are repayable on demand.

All other payables are interest free, unsecured and are repayable on

demand.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

27..~TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. R E M EAFE
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TAT
Amounts payable arising from the BEEB 2 ESH RIER
ordinary course of business of FERTFIE
dealing in securities and options
— Cash clients (Note (a)(i)) - RBEEF (ME)) 48,901 99,298
~ Hong Kong Security Cleaning — BAPREEER AR
Company Limited - 1,443
Amounts payable arising from the HEEXBZIESARS
ordinary course of business of FERTFRIE
dealing in futures contracts:
— Clients - ®F 3,525 2,362
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary HEEBZRUEBFTERE
course of business of provision of FERIFRIE
securities margin financing:
- Clients - 5P 2,774 3,110
Amounts payable arising from ordinary HEXK ESBEE
course of business of dealing FE IR (BT#E(a)(ii)
in precious metals (Note (a)(ii)) 7,848 6,770
Total trade payables B 2R 63,048 112,983
Accruals and other payables (Note (b)) FERERREMBMATIE (M) 6,890 5,772
Rental and other deposits received HEREME KRS 6,149 5,688
Rental received in advance BHES 225 225
76,312 124,668
Notes: B =E -
a) All the amounts payables are repayable on demand; except a) FAEMNFEAKRENRER

i) EI%%&‘%Z EER GRS TEEM
HERRSBEMETIERES: &

i) PRFXBZELBEEEMNFER

=tHAEE-

H A & 3

T8 B 472,555,000/ 7T (=&

— Z % : 2,850,000/ 7T) JHHR KR ER /R
RZRBE - EBHNRRZRBIEE - &

BRRREREE -

fﬂﬂ’%ﬁ

Eﬁﬂ pius

KA 8  EER R R RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR7AK [
Number Nominal value %
of ordinary of ordinary -
shares shares
EBRR<HE ERR2HEHE
Authorised: BIE
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZ-_—FMA—R "
31 March 2023 at HK$0.01 each ZTZZE=RA=+—HK
—E-_=f=A=+—-0"
FhRA0.014T 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZE-_—FHA—H -
31 March 2023 —E-_F=A=+—H8k
—E_=F=HA=+-H 2,682,316,758 26,824

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 24, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising mainly issued share capital, retained profits
and other reserves.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which
is a member of CGSE, they are required to comply with certain
minimum capital requirements according to the rules of the SFC
and the CGSE.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and
new share issues.

As at 31 March 2023, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$139,336,000 (2022: HK$234,625,000). The
gearing being equal to approximately 5.0% (2022: 8.6%) of
the net assets of approximately HK$2,761,140,000 (2022:
HK$2,718,501,000).

29. EXERER
AEBEBERUBRAEBEEE R
BReLERL . FREBEESRE
BZTFEARRFRRALR - AEFIMN
AFEEZ2HRBEZRTE -

AEBMEXRBEEBFEY (BREHT24
FIRBEMES  FREMAEZEEY) K
ARAEAEAREERZ (TR EHTKR
A REABEF R E M)

AEBETHERARAXESRBEEHE
ZZzEe((BEe)k—HANBAR AR
BREBEHEZEEMEE  ZFAAAK
BREEGNEREEIGZRRNETET
REERER -

EXEXEENELER BN EF
ERE-HHERKARARBER - K&
EBREEEECRZEBRERERET
HRATFE2mEAERE -

R-E-_=ZF=ZA=+—H #EX
A #9139,336,0008 . (=T = =
234,625,0008 L) BB XA FE
= #)2,761,140,0008 5 (Z T2 = = F :
2,718,501,000% JT) M £35.0% (=T ==
F:86%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ¥HKTH

Categories of Financial Instruments (a) BIBIASE
2023 2022
—EC-=H B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FTAT
Financial assets BEEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: TRE ARSI BRI B B E -
Trade and other receivables and g5 REMERRIERRE
deposits 823,794 1,028,760
Other assets HiEE 3,400 3,400
Cash and cash equivalents RekRe 2 EEBY 459,327 568,386
1,286,521 1,600,546
Financial liabilities gy 3=R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHK ARSI BRI B (E -
Trade and other payables B 5 N H A e 58 76,087 124,443
Borrowings B3 139,336 234,625
Amounts due to related parties JE 5 BB A L3R 89 1,172
Amount due to the ultimate R BRAIE R A B 5UA
holding company 70,229 213,384
285,741 573,624

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and
other receivables, deposits, other assets, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, borrowings, amounts
due to related parties and amount due to the ultimate holding
company.

Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

(b)

BERRERERERBE

ARBZIEMBTAGRESRE
KR e HAtEE RE
BEREZFEY  EHREMEMNR
B ER - BAEBALREAREN

R D RIRIA o

ZEMBTAFBEREEMESR K
B ABRSMBIANRREBED
ZRRGMNERBREMNERR) FE
e RngE e mk o T 3E I mfE
BREZERBOHEK AEEERE
ARERBYEAAHAAR  NHERK
BARRBUEEfEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — CONTINUED 30. BIAETE -4 ¢
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies - (b) HEABREEEERNE-& Sg
Continued ;
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EEEERBEFG

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
exposures are primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, deposits, other assets and bank balances.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets, except that the credit risk associated
with interest bearing loans receivables and margin
financing receivables are mitigated because they are
secured as detailed in Note 19. The Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk
for each of their new and existing clients before
standard payment terms and conditions are offered.
If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses
the credit quality of the customer based on the
customer’s financial position, past experience and other
factors. The Group seeks to dealing with counter parties
which have good credit history.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approval and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken for the recoverable amount.

FERREFEENIZHTE
AMERAEBRZ B RK
R - AEENEERREER
BESREMEYHIE e
Rt EEARRITHES

AEEYEREHEREEESR
R EERRMEEETMERR
3 H At A0SR (5 B 15 16(F A B At
BREWE SRR BB KSR
HiEERRREFERTAME
K FEF2HME9 - ER
B ACERRIFEERZE
EERR -

B AR A SRR R AR AT -
KSEEENMOMEBUHRRER
FEEERME - INEBIFA
AEEEREBETPHMBHRR -
BELBRIACRRFEEPH
FEER AKESKEARR
HERTENRXZHFRIS -

REEERRRERE AEEH
ERECZR—EAEKARETE
EERE FEEEHREMER
12 Fr DAREOR S A] Ui 2] Y & B ER AR
BETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B 8} R KM

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

. B80.~FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

et

(i)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Interest bearing loans receivables

The Group holds collateral against interest-bearing loans
receivables in the form of mortgages over properties
located in Hong Kong. Certain interest-bearing loans
receivables are secured by listed and unlisted equity
securities and personal guarantee. Individual risk limits
are set based on the value of collaterals provided by
customers and internal or external ratings in accordance
with limits set by the directors.

The Group assesses allowance for credit losses on
interest bearing loans receivables individually, the
management assessed the expected losses individually
by estimation based on historical default rates of
the customers, fair value of the collateral pledged
by the customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information. As at 31 March 2023, allowance of
credit losses in respect of interest-bearing loans
receivables was approximately HK$118,502,000 (2022:
HK$144,805,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 19.95% (2022: 17.33%) and 56.99% (2022:
51.57%) of the total principal receivables from loan was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

BMBTA-&
BREREREEERBK - &

(b)

()

EEmRBRBEF G - &

i EERE

AKENBTENERBLAMER
ARRRER cER SR - BT
BREKERIA LM R ETES
MEABRERER - BARR
REZREEFIRHEOERRA
BEARBRBEZETE CREN
MBS INRBRE R ME ©

S B RBI (4 5 BB E R (E
EFREE EHERERPHN
EREOE ZPERNERR
m@ﬁﬁ&mfmﬁﬁﬁﬁ”

TTRAE-BE-_T_=F=
H:+—E'+QKWE F

—

—= ::¢ : 144,805,000/%

o

ol

~

RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H" 'K
SENEERBREFES A
19.95% (=& = — 4 : 17.33%)
R W E TN & 48 3 #)56.99%
(ZZE=—%F:5157%) * H7I%K
BAEEEAEPRAKRES °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of

business of margin financing, dealing in securities and

options, futures contracts and precious metal

(a)

Amounts receivable arising from the ordinary
course of business of provision of securities margin
financing

Certain amounts receivable arising from the
ordinary course of business of provision of
securities margin financing are secured by listed
equity securities. Individual risk limits are set based
on the value of collaterals provided by customers
and internal or external ratings in accordance with
limits set by the directors.

In determining the impairment on margin loans
which were credit-impaired, the management of
the Group reviews and assesses each margin
client individually based on the evaluation of
collectability, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection statistics
of each client, the realisation value of securities or
collaterals from clients and their guarantors which
are held by the Group, subsequent settlement or
additional collaterals received. The write-off was
made in respect of margin loans that have been
fully provided for in the prior years.

30.

& B B | xR KM A

MBTA -4 g
(b) MBEBREREEREE - H gﬁy

(i) EEEBRBEEFG - &
ABERBZARBE  ZFRHY
# HEEHIREZBRFZE
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BE 2 WA
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EEREARE S EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

0.~FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of

business of margin financing, dealing in securities

and options, futures contracts and precious metal —

Continued

(a) Amounts receivable arising from the ordinary
course of business of provision of securities margin
financing — Continued

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 50.52% (2022: 42.54%) and
69.54% (2022: 58.85%) of the total interest bearing
receivables from margin financing was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

The Group assess allowance for credit losses on
margin financing receivables individually based on
historical credit loss experience of the customers
as well as the fair value of collateral pledged by
the customers and adjusted for forward-looking
information. As at 31 March 2023, allowance
of credit losses in respect of margin financing
receivables was approximately HK$80,108,000
(2022: HK$77,211,000)

(b) Amounts receivable due from clearing houses and
brokers

In respect of amounts receivable from clearing
houses and brokers, credit risks are considered
low as the Company normally enters into
transactions with clearing houses and brokers
which are registered with regulatory bodies and
enjoy sound reputation in the industry. For the
year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for amounts receivable due from
clearing houses and brokers are insignificant and
thus no loss allowance is recognised.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 30.
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —

B TH-#&
b) HHBEREREERNE - &
Continued

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

(i) EEEBRBEEFG - &

Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of
business of dealing in margin financing, securities
and options, futures contracts and precious metal —
Continued

(c) Amounts receivable due from cash clients

In respect of amounts due from cash clients,
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all clients. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable
at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The settlement terms of
cash clients arising from the business of dealing
in securities are two working days after trade
date, the Directors consider that the credit risk is

significantly reduced.

Besides above-mentioned transactions, clients
are required to place deposits as prescribed
in the Company's policy before execution of
any purchase transactions. No loss allowance
recognised from ordinary course dealing in futures
brokerage and precious metal during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Amounts receivable arising from ordinary course of
business of properties investment

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime ECL for amounts receivable arising
from ordinary course of business. To measure the ECL,
these amounts receivable have been based on past
due status, historical credit loss experience based
on the past default experience of the Group and are
adjusted with forward-looking information. On that basis,
the Group assessed that there is no loss allowance
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B 8} R KM

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

(i)

0.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
Other receivables

For other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The credit risk associated
with certain other receivables is mitigated because
it is guaranteed by the controlling shareholders. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables
are insignificant and thus no loss allowance is
recognised.

Other assets

Other assets represent statutory deposits and reserved
fund contribution to the regulatory bodies, the credit
risks are considered to be low. For the year ended 31
March 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the ECL of
other assets are insignificant and thus no loss allowance
is recognised.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )

B TE-&
BREREEEERBE -&

(b)

()

EERER A ETG - &

E W T E
FEMERFIERNS @ BEER
BBRAGERS  BELREE
NEBAEERMATEEER (B
THEHEKRREZEERRERE
BABREERMGER) 2 EE
REMER - I H A EUR
T8 2 A el (T B A o B
BEREZEREZEERRE
MR TR AR WA E LN - &
ECECERITCF=H
=+—HIEFE  AEEFEHE
fERFIEARREEREEES
B TEAX - B ERREEE
=l

HiEE

Hitn B ERETE AR AEEE
BIELNERHE  EEERR
BEARE BE_T_=FK
—E-__F#=-RA=+—HIL#F
B AREFEEMEERRA
HIEHEEBEBEYPEKX - (il
ERABERE -

RiThE
ARRZHFHEBEREERE

BRIEEFRHOMARLT -
HRTEBNEERRER - &
KE2ZIBEEFRRBEME
HhAEBEEFRERNEOME
FEEZ EMTHERITERR12
BABHMEEESE - ENFHE
BE - 12 AEREEBRRES
RTERX e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M o Hm R K O

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate
amount of outstanding financial guarantees issued
to banks in respect of bank facilities granted to the
third parties that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$3,000,000), being the outstanding financial
guarantees has been utilised by the third parties. The
fair value of these financial guarantee, as at dates of
initial recognition, were considered insignificant. At 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the management has
performed impairment assessment, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured
at an amount equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was
recognised in the profit or loss.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

Pa
=)

a8

30. ¥KTH-&
(b) R

EHABERBEK-&

(i) EEEBRBEEFG - &
HHEREA
RUBREREOME RZF
“ZHEZAZT B RETFE

=H AR E A EEENR
TRE RSITE LA REENBE
YER42%853,000,000/8 T (=&
— =% :3,000,000/&7T) * B
FE=HEBAREEVHER
ZEMBERR AR BB
AREWRBUTEK - R

ZEF=A=+—-BEk=%F=Z=
F=ZA=+—H BEEETT
REE  REBUBERER
MIATER AR - SRR AR
ZEM Bl AEEEZHOH
BERERABAEEZI2EATRE

HEEERTE REBEZTERE
REBREE -
REBH RN E RBR TR

comprises the following categories: BREATDE :
Internal credit rating Description ECL Categories
R 15 & R AR i AHMEEBESE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts or debtor
frequently repays after due dates in full
KR B HFEAMEARRBIEL BEMBEHRE - 12AARBEERR
BEAREHEI PR REREER
Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through information - not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
R BEADEHIIMEER - EEER B DIRHERIE FEPESREERE
PNEE —EEERE
High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired - credit-impaired
= R FEBRTEELRGEERNE FERRHBEEER
—f=ERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= a8 B B ® x M =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

A B80.~FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 3. ¥BIE-&

*;& ' (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) PEEMREEEERBE-&
d . Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued (i) EEREEREEFG-E
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TR AEBALETREEE
the Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee BT NS E E NI EER
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment: EHZEERR
2023 2023 2022 2022
“E-CE C—E-cE —E-C-F CZE-CF
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Financial assets Internal 12m or carrying carrying carrying carrying
at amortised costs Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount amount amount
128 A 7EH
REHNRGIENGHFEE WaE APEEFS BREFEEE REAE HREAE RELE  HREHLE

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEL TEL

Bank balances 22 NA 12m ECL 415,432 474,545
RIS FER 12EABBEERE
Bank balances - trust and
segregated accounts 22 NA 12m ECL 43,883 93,835
RiTfR-GERARRERO T 12EAESEEER
Amounts receivables and
loan receivables 19 Low risk 12m ECL 431,231 557,440
EWFHERERER (e 12EAESEEER
Lifetime ECL (non-
credit-impaired) 32,507 90,130
FESENEESS
(REERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 425,221 888,959 470,089 1,117,659
FENESEERR
(FERE)
Other receivables and deposits 19 Low risk 12m ECL 133,445 133,117
At EMFERES {EE R 12HABBEERE
Other assets 20 NA 12m ECL 3,400 3,400
AftERE TR 12EAESEERR
Other item
CgES
Financial guarantor (Note) 32 Lowrisk 12m ECL 3,000 3,000
BB R (Fia) {EE R 12EAESEERR
Note: B e
For financial guarantee contract, the gross carrying amount MBEREGANEHEERRAS
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed REEANERZES S -

under the respective contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-F =4 =H=+—HILEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued
The movements in ECL on interest bearing loan
receivables and margin financing receivables during the

30.

B & B B | R K R

BT -
(b) HBAREERERKE -4
() EEABEHEFE - &

BHE_ZT-_=FR-_FT-__F=
A=+— am¢§%@@%%a

years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

EIfFRBERUFACEREE

EREZHMT
Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL credit-
not credit- impaired
12m ECL impaired (Note) Total
FERES
FESREE GEFE-
128R%EE FEBE- FERE
FEER EEEHE (PBH=E) FoH
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TER TEx FBT TER
At 1 April 2021 \_E-_—FNA—H 16,430 863 187,979 205,272
Transfer to lifetime ECL % §T%“fﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ
- not credit-impaired EEER
—-EEERE (12,445) 12,552 (107) -
Reversal of impairment loss on BETRREER
margin financing receivables FIEREEE = (8,481) = (8,481)
Reversal of impairment loss BEE B REKR
on interest bearing loan BEFREEE
receivables (742) - (57) (799)
Impairment loss on margin HFERERE
financing BB - 12,689 = 12,689
Impairment loss on interest TEERER
bearing loan receivables REBE 445 - 12,890 13,335
At 31 March 2022 and RZBZZF
1 April 2022 ZA=t-HEkK
—EC-CE
MmA—H 3,688 17,623 200,705 222,016
Transfer to lifetime ECL - BEFERED
credit-impaired FEER
-EERE (279) - 279 =
Reversal of impairment loss on B E R & EL
margin financing receivables RERBEEE - (918) - (918)
Reversal of impairment loss BE T EER
on interest bearing loan ERRERFE
receivables (544) (98) - (642)
Write-offs i - - (71,172) (71,172)
Impairment loss on margin fFRAERE
financing g - 3,815 - 3,815
Impairment loss on interest TEERER
bearing loan receivables REEE 572 - 44,939 45,511
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=fF
=R=+—H 3,437 20,422 174,751 198,610

Note: The credit impaired receivables related to customers that
were in the process of liquidation and/or management
assessed that the receivables are unlikely to be

recovered.

fisE : EEERENEBKFATIER
EREMERANTP R,/
B R R 2 PR RO

AR RIE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

30. MBITH-&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies - (b) VEEBEEEERBR-&
Continued
(ii) Liquidity risk (i) FEELER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining BENRBECRAREEEER
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability FROBECRIESES B
of funding through an adequate amount of credit BEAEEEREZRABEEE
facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Ee MBS HEETREE -
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAMASIAEBNTEEE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For ZENERE - TR Z HR
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been BEERFNTEMBEBZRUR
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of A ERBUAREESTEERR
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on ZHE - BEm=S - fAIREK
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, EBREIZETBENRERRE
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are BA - MAEZFRITEETE
included in the earliest time band regardless of the HiER| 2 Al AeE o HAhFENTAER
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their BEBZHBOMBERNHEE
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative HEEMmEL -
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.
The table includes both interest and principal cash THRBHINAE RS ZRE
flows. To the extend that interest flows are floating rate, mE - WMABERETEHFX KX
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at BReBHEMES AR ZHER
the end of the reporting period. e
Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year  cash flows amounts
RERS REEBRE
MEFIGF) = SR—F MELG FHE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET THET TER THEL
2023 -3
Trade and other payables & 5 k2t [E 508 - 76,087 76,087 76,087
Borrowings f& 3.52% 139,336 139,336 139,336
Amounts due to FET AR A TR
related parties - 89 89 89
Amount dug to the ultimate & & &R A B FUA
holding company - 70,229 70,229 70,229
285,741 285,741 285,741
2022 —E-_F
Trade and other payables & 5 J E i f& 4 58 = 124,443 124,443 124,443
Borrowings L 1.48% 234,625 234,625 234,625
Amounts due to related JE TR A T 5E
parties - 1,172 1,172 1,172
Amount due to the ultimate B &R A A1 A
holding company - 213,384 213,384 213,384
573,624 573,624 573,624
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 30. ¥BIHE-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) BMEEMREEEEREE-#Z
Continued
(i) Liquidity risk — Continued (i) nEEZERE-E
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause WSt B E R R R A RITE
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” FETALDB BT EE

time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
March 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of
these bank borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$138,715,000 (2022: HK$234,625,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the management
does not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The management believes that such bank
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled

KPR —EAIBHEER -
R-_ZE-_=f=ZA=+—8"
ZERTEFNERLENR
138,715,000 L (===

234,625,000/87T) ° ZEE| A%
BRB BN  ERERARIT
AR RIS Z KA
BR-EBERR ZERTE
RERBEE R R Es 28R

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details HEEE  FBHNTR:
of which are set out in the table below:
Maturity analysis — bank borrowings with a repayment on FEOM — RIBERT B
demand clause based on a scheduled repayment RERERFEREORITER
Total
Within One to Two to Over undiscounted Carrying
oneyear  twoyears  fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flows amounts
AERAE
R -EmE MELE BBLE HEAE FHE
HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000 HKS’ 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL ThEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEx
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=£=f=1-H 54,870 14,855 44,565 45,809 160,099 138,715
At 31 March 2022 R=E--%=f=1-H 27,938 27,965 83,900 114,201 254,004 234,625

The amounts included above for variable interest rate W2 E A =R 7 BB B AR R4 HA
RTEEZHERGEEMEZE
Al FaiF NFBFETE 2 &5

A -

instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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0.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —
Continued
(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing loans receivables
(see Note 19). The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see Note 22 for details), variable-rate
interest-bearing loans and margin financing receivables
(see Note 19 for details) and variable-rate bank and
other borrowings (see Note 24 for details). The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances,
variable-rate receivables and borrowings. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B O® R M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

30. ¥BITH-&

(b)

UHEBEEERRRE - &

(iii) F/% /@5

AEERBAERRAERTEE
WEFMIAENRRR (F2
BIF5E19) » A M IR E e B B
FBNRRTES (HBEFLH
Wix22) - F R BERRAFR
B A B UGRR 2 5 B MR
(FHBEF2RBME19) ARZEA
RERITRAMER (FEF2H
i24) RS REF KRR
AGEZHRERENERREE
KTPRRITER - FERKTE
ARAERZ ME R E) - AEREH
NEFEFTIAFB IR - K
KEREBEMNZKFERAR - 5FE
EMMERSELNEETEN
EERANKRER - EREREHN
BlE RF B A R 2 R - I
EREFBSERER -

Total interest revenue from financial assets that are REERAFTE AU EER

measured at amortised cost is as follows: BIURESINT :
2023 2022
—EC-=H B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET

Interest revenue under effective BRI =3 TR F B Wz

interest method 75,875 84,575

Interest expenses on financial liabilities not measured at

W ARRRABER BRI 28

FVTPL: HEBEFERAY
2023 2022
—EC-=H T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHERAGTECHBAR 6,672 3,695

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (% &t 4 W 4 B 2 )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B B B R K &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F =4 =H =+ —H IL4EF

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 30 MKITA-#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — (b) BMEEMREEEEREE-#Z
Continued

(iii) Interest rate risk — Continued
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a

(i) FEEE - &
TRITAE BB AR (8
RIRITER  FERIRMER
B XA EEKERRFRERME
BURHEMTE) R RSB #ER
HANEEREEEENGRIET
Hih BERIFTE o

reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax (through the impact on bank deposits, variable
rate borrowings, variable-rate interest-bearing loans
receivables and margin financing receivables) and the
Group’s equity.

Increase
Increase (decrease) Increase
(decrease) in profit before (decrease)
in basis points taxation in equity
HERz BREANENZ EE2
120 O ) 18 Gl ) 120 Gel )
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET
2023 —E-=f
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,968 3,511
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,968) (3,511)
2022 —E-—F
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 4,158 3,607
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (4,158) (3,607)

EREEHTENREEETR

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks

has been undertaken globally, to replace some
interbank offered rate (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight
Index Average (“HONIA”) has been identified as an
alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue
HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in
Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

ARE  BERAETERRD
MERRETRITHE - BER
TREFHERBRRBERETER
TREXFEZBRTR - HEH
REFERULERBRITAER
B BRERAZHNETN - BA
RITRAFEKERETHRRYHE
BRATF
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

0.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

' (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies —

Continued

(iv) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States
dollars (“US$").

Since US$ are pegged to HK$, the Group considers
risk of movements in exchange rates between the HK$
and US$ to be insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis with respect to US$ is presented.

31. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following transactions with its
related parties:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. IHITE-Z
(b) BIBEAREEEERKE -£&

(iv) PE@SR
REBAZ ZINERBREERB
RS AINE 2 HAIRITEE R KB
P BMRFIEBEB ZNEE
BN E M E R - BEEER
BRMEEEFEAZTT([ET]) -

ARETEETHE  ARER
LRAE TR ETTE R 2 K EH
TRE - Rt I RENEHEET
R B AE DA o

31. BERBBMALRS
BRzERaRBmRAMBOMEEEIN
AEBEGRABFBMALTETATRS

Name of related parties Nature of transactions Notes 2023 2022
BBALTERE REME Lo —E=-= S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHBT
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) Investment management fee income (a) 1,414 1,569
RARERER QA (TFHHARKRE]) REERE W
Securities brokerage commission fee
income (b) 101 33
ERRERERE
Handling fee income for dividend
collection (c) 23 22
REBKFEE fa
Storage fee income for bullion (d) - 6
EcBRFRBEKA
Town Bright Industries Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (e) 676 676
FAEEZERDA RHHEEER
Upbest Properties Company Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (f) 84 84
ERMERRRAT REHEER
Champion Assets Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (9) 60 60
HEARAR KEHEER
Loong Cheong Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (h) 156 156

EERARRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAN

& M % ® R K =

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes:

(a)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management Limited
(“UAML") as investment manager, and UBA Investments Limited
("UBA”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “UBA Group”) have
entered into Investment Management Agreement dated 25 January
2019 (“2019 Investment Management Agreement”) and agreed that
the investment management services provided by UAML to UBA
for a period of three years from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. The
annual cap for the investment management fee and performance
fee for each of the financial years ending 31 March 2020, 2021
and 2022 are HK$8,600,000, HK$9,100,000 and HK$9,600,000
respectively. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement,
monthly investment management fee is payable by UBA in advance
and amounts to 1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset value
of UBA (“Net Asset Value”) as at the immediately preceding valuation
date on the basis of the actual number of days in the relevant
calendar month over 365 days a year.

UAML and UBA have entered into a new investment management
agreement dated 26 January 2022 (“2022 Investment Management
Agreement”) and agreed that the respective relevant original
agreement will be extended from the period of 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2025.

In addition to the investment management fee, provided that the Net
Asset Value as at the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the
higher (the “High Watermark”) of:

(i)  the Net Asset Value as at the financial year ended 31 March
2019 (“Reference Year”); and

(i) the Net Asset Value as at the end of the most recent financial
year after the Reference Year and in which the performance fee
is paid.

UBA will pay UAML the performance fee for the relevant financial
year equal to 20% of the amount by which the Net Asset Value as at
the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the High Watermark.
The annual cap for the investment management fee and performance
fee for each of the financial years ending 31 March 2023, 2024
and 2025 are HK$6,100,000, HK$6,200,000 and HK$6,300,000
respectively. It is expected that the total of investment management
fee and performance fee will be less than HK$10,000,000 per annum
and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Investment Management
Agreement are less than 25%. Thus, transaction contemplated under
2022 Investment Management Agreements is considered to be a
de-minimis transaction for the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.76
of the Listing Rules. There was no performance fee for the financial
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The investment management
income has been included under revenue.

BENBEBMALRS - &

GEX

ARRZMBAREREEERAR([E
BREBRDEARELE HHEAKESR
BAE ([FBEEE]) REWER R (5E
BIFRAKREEE]) RZZT—hLE—A
ZTRAEREEERE ([201988 &
EBERE]) YREREREERFA
BRERUZBEEBREAH=FA_F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b)

M B O® R M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes: — Continued

On 25 January 2019, a subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Securities
Company Limited (“USCL") and UBA and four of its subsidiaries
have separately entered into securities brokerage supplemental
agreements for the transaction in relation to the provision of securities
brokerage services and agreed that the original agreements were
further extended for a period of three years to 31 March 2022. It
is expected that the annual brokerage commission will be less
than HK$3,000,000 per annum and all the applicable percentage
ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are less
than 5%. Thus, transactions contemplated under the securities
brokerage supplemental agreements are considered to be a
de-minims transaction for USCL pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules. Brokerage commission fee income was charged at
0.25% (2022: 0.25%), the prevailing market rate, on the value of the
transactions.

USCL and UBA and six of its subsidiaries have entered into securities
brokerage supplemental agreements (“2022 Securities Brokerage
Supplemental Agreements”) and agreed that the original agreement
will be extended for the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025.
The proposed annual cap regarding to the securities brokerage
service for each of the financial year ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and
2025 is HK$800,000.

Handling fee for dividend collection was charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Storage fee for precious metals trading was charged at US$2 (2022:
US$2) per day.

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered into
tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited for one
year, commencing from 1 April 2022. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy
agreements were renewed for one year to 31 March 2023. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Upbest Properties Company Limited for one year, commencing from
1 April 2022. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed
for one year to 31 March 2023. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Champion Assets Limited for one year, commencing from 1 April
2022. On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one
year to 31 March 2023. (Note)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
CONTINUED

Notes: — Continued

(h) A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Loong Cheong Limited for one year, commencing from 1 April 2022.
On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one year to
31 March 2023. (Note)

Note:

As at 31 March 2023, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”) holds
approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest Group Limited (“Upbest”).
Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung Fai”) holds approximately 26.74% of
UBA. The ultimate beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng’s
Family Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng’s Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
(“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”).
Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also
a director of UBA. Moreover, UAML, the investment manager of UBA,
is regarded as a connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interests in Town Bright Industries Limited,
Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion Assets Limited and
Loong Cheong Limited.

(i) The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in Note 11.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course of the
Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the parties.

31. BEKBBMALIRS -&

b

(h)
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KFung FaiZ &R E = A A BCheng’s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= a B B | x K

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & E —F " =4 =H =+—H k4§

+FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

2. BBERSY

2023 2022
—EC-=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TAT
Guarantees given by the Company RRRREMBRARBBLE=S
and its subsidiaries to financial AT BB ERATRGEES
institutions in respect of facilities
granted to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to RRRBEMBA RS T
financial institutions in respect of HEERIEUSEER
facilities granted to subsidiaries 452,000 452,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it
is probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any
of the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries

at 31 March 2023 is approximately HK$138,715,000 (2022:
HK$234,625,000)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ & 4 45 R 2 #)

REEMRE EZITRALEERER
ARSI EERE °

tRER ER-E-_=F£=F=+—H
WM B R Bl A 2 5B fE 49 45138,715,00078

JL(ZZ =% : 234,625,000 T)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 33. AAEM BN K

. —222;; -z _Qﬁx*? i

—_—

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W REE 3 4
Interests in subsidiaries N IEYNG P £ 395,379 397,009
395,382 397,013
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments and other receivable TE 1 R 8 K% EL A e Y kIR 2 4
Bank balances and cash RITEHRIRE 2,115 147
2,117 151
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accrued expenses e & A 345 345
Net current assets (liabilities) RBEE (8F) 1,772 (194)
NET ASSETS EEFHE 397,154 396,819
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRRAEE
Share capital N 26,824 26,824
Reserves (Note) @ (PiTEE) 370,330 369,995
397,154 396,819
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and AAFRINP BRI REEESeN T —=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2023 and FRAZT=A#ERBREZDREA T
are signed on its behalf by: BERKREE
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
BEfm BER
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

CONTINUED
Note: Reserves of the Company

83..+-STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. ADAMNHBRRK - &

st - RRRIM

Proposed
Share Contributed Retained final
premium surplus profits dividend Total
BRR
ROEE BHERHR  REEH BRE At
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TER TEx TER TER
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FNA—H 300,959 8,515 7,343 26,823 343,640
Profit and total comprehensive  RFE R H & H i 2 m =
income for the year - - 53,178 - 53,178
Dividend payable R A - - - (26,823) (26,823)
Proposed final dividend (Note 14) #k RS (Fi:E14) - = (53,646) 53,646 -
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-_—_#=R=+—H 300,959 8,515 6,875 53,646 369,995
Profit and total comprehensive  ZNF B FIl & H 2 E U 25
income for the year - - 53,981 - 53,981
Dividend payable FEfTIR B - - - (53,646) (53,646)
Proposed final dividend (Note 14) #E R &% & (FiE14) - - (53,646) 53,646 -
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=£=A=+—H 300,959 8,515 7,210 53,646 370,330

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities,
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

including both cash and non-cash

34.

8 B % & K K =

METHRELABZHE

T%?L$‘£Igﬂﬁxé@ﬁﬁ?$ﬁ1ﬁ2ﬁ
B AEREKIRCED -BEFDM
§$E1 TEﬁimEEj*Xﬁ%ﬁEH—J

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified as REAREGERERBDRAN B RHEE
cash flows from financing activities in the Group’s consolidated HELREZBE -
statement of cash flows.
Amount due
to the
ultimate
holding Bank Dividend Interest
company  borrowing payable payable Total
JE f+f B 4%
TWHN-/'\
;B ORITER EAKRE ERAR st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FHET FET FHBT
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 200,362 258,629 - - 458,991
Financing cash FREREME
flows net 13,022 (24,004) (26,823) (3,574) (41,379)
Finance cost ELEZ N = = 3,574 3,574
Dividend approved B #t /&R 2 = = 26,823 = 26,823
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H
and 1 April 2022 k=ZFE-—®FpmPA—H 213,384 234,625 - - 448,009
Financing cash FRERERE
flows net (143,155) (95,910) (53,646) (6,343)  (299,054)
Finance cost B & R AN = = = 6,647 6,647
Dividend approved B #t /MR S - - 53,646 = 53,646
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-_=4=A=+—H 70,229 138,715 - 304 209,248
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

. B5..~-PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

35. B RFE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 and 2022

are as follows:

RZE_=FK—
ARAIMBRBFBNT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= — —

=

F=A=+—H

Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BEAR REEELR
WERREH MRS FESXHE HRETBERRA BHELA,/ REE TEEH
2023 2022
ZEC=F —T-F
Upbest Financial Holdings Limited British Virgin Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Islands (“BVI")
ABABRES B E RELER
Upbest Land Company Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABABRES B ES REER
Citybest Management Limited BVI Macau US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABABRES & E RELER
Companhia De Desenvolvimento Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment
E Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada
KEEXERARARA P R 25,0008 7 BHERE
Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$28,000,004 100% 100% Money lending
HRBBERAA &k &iF  28,000,004% T ERBE
Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
REERAA &b B0 10,0008 7 REZR
Good Profit Development Limited Samoa Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HHERERAR BEE &b E REZR
Great Luck Consultants Limited BVI Hong Kong US$50,000 100% 100% Inactive
RERFARAA EREERES &b 50,000% 7T IREEY
King Standard International Limited BVI Macau US$1 100% 100% Property holding
EREBERES -3 [EY B PR AR
Marco Tech Limited BVI Hong Kong US$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
EREBERES &t e REERK

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY - 35. MBARIFE-&
CONTINUED
Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable g
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BETR REBEELRS
WEARERE MmUY FEEEHE HEEERRE B/ RER TEEK
2023 2022
—E-Zf ZE_C
Mei Tou Real Estate Company Limited Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment
ZEEXERAT 9 & 25,0008 BHERE
Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Property investment
ENERAA 9 & 25,0008 BHERE
Perfect Result Investments Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEREBRATA EBARRES £ Ey REER
Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10 70% 70% Project and
property
management
BREZRERAA 6 0 1087 BHERMEER
Upbest Assets Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$600,000 100% 100%  Asset management
FREBARAA BB B 600,000 7T EERR
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$11,000,000 100% 100% Precious metal
dealing
FREEERAT Bk &% 11,000,000% T RLREE
Upbest Commodities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Futures dealing
FRASERAT Bk &% 10,000,000% T HEEE
Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
FREEREBARDA &b B 28T IREE
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
ZRETHEARATA &b 0 28T IREED
Upbest Hong Kong Land Company BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited

RERARES 0 (EI REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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i A
For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE - F =4 =H =+—H IL4E)E

85..~-PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY - 35. WEBARFE-&

CONTINUED
Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTR AREEE
(il IR aMmLtE FEEEME  AREBRRA BHLH,/ RER TEXEH
2023 2022
ZEIZE ZT-C

Upbest Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$40,000,000 100% 100% Securities margin
financing
XRRAFRAT B &% 40,000,000% T BRRAE
Upbest Macau Land Company Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
XRRMAEXRERAT ABARARES &b [E REEMR
Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% 100% Inactive
XERLESFERAA &t &% 500000087 TRELY
Upbest Strategic Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,002 100% 100%  Investment holding
XRABERATA B 0 500287 REER
Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Securities dealing
and broking
ERESERAA ) &% 10,000,000% T EAXHRER
Peals International Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
YHERERAT ABABRES B E RELER
Maiyon Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$35,000 100% 100% Inactive
FEREAFRAT B B 35,0008 7 IRELY
Peace Gain Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 55% 55%  Investment holding
ABABRES B 100% 7T RELER

198
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F _=4F=H =1 HILESE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY -

35 MBARFE-&

CONTINUED
Issued and Proportion of
Principal fully paid interest/voting power
Place of place of ordinary attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation share capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTR REEELR
WEL=REH AfKUEE FEEEHE HRERRRX BHLH,/ REE TEXEH
2023 2022
ZEIZE ZE-C
Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 55% 55%  Property investment
&b &b 1T BHERE
Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 55% 55% Inactive
&b &b 1% IRELY
Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Precious metal
dealing
FReREHARAT Bt BB 10,000 7T REREE
Mega Benefit International Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% Inactive
ABRARES B [E ERER
Fantasy Windom Group Limited (Note) BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% N/A Inactive
ABRARES B [E ERELRD
Trillion Way Holdings Limited (Note) BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% N/A Inactive
ABRARES BB [E ERELR

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

Note:

Fantasy Windom Group Limited and Trillion Way Holdings Limited were

incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2023.

RBERRIANFEREMER - AR
BRRAHERFEZEREERN

b

Fantasy Windom Group Limited and Trillion
Way Holdings Limited hDRBE=T=_=F= A
=St+—HIEFERNKIY
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

1)+INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

(1) R=EBZ=ZF=B=+-HZREYX

Approximate Percentage of the

Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
EE31 Rz  BYEELEE R KEBFE
BRAAL
(square feet)
(FER) %
(a) Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
RF i g
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
AR F EFEPS23ER 2
ENES - BES1EEN -
WER—EB2E
(b) Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B Commercial fnfié|
FE/ A

1 piece of land at

Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with

a two-story restaurant
URNRM K EEZR

ez —iEtiE
F-ERMERRAEEEZEEY

(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS

(2 RZEZ=F=A=1+—-HZEERERE

AT 31 MARCH 2023 S
Percentage
of the Estimated
Approximate Group’s completion Stage of
Description Usage site area interest date development
EE 3 itk e BROEE X&E st BRER
AER Frib iz SR A
Bl
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(a)  Hong Kong Government, 9,147 58] N/A  Vacant land
& Institution or i ZEE T
Community

2 pieces of land at

Tseung Kwan O

Declamation

District Number 248

AL &8 1 EIR248(% ) + 4

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 M 4 W 2 #)

BT BRSE



UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(RBELEHEARLXA) x

2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre

300 Des Voeux Road Central . /
Hong Kong \ ﬁ

Tel: 852 2545 3298 i o

Website: www.upbest.com

EREHETI005%
EREED L2

BT 7 852 2545 3298
43k www.upbest.com
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